# WOMEN'S PERCEPTIONS OF HELPFUL AND HINDERING INCIDENTS IN COPING WITH SEXUAL HARASSMENT

by

# **Tracey Garber**

B.A., Mount Allison University, 2006

# THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF EDUCATION IN COUNSELLING

THE UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA

December 2009

© Tracey Garber, 2009



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-60846-3 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-60846-3

#### NOTICE:

The author has granted a non-exclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or non-commercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

#### AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



#### **ABSTRACT**

This qualitative study employed the Critical Incident Technique to examine women's perceptions of helpful and hindering incidents in experiences of coping with sexual harassment. Fifteen women completed individual interviews as participants for the study. Incidents were extracted from interview data and sorted into helpful and hindering incidents in the context of actions of participants versus actions of others. Fifteen major categories and nine subcategories were formed. Emotional support, seeking social support (i.e., protecting younger coworkers, banding together with other women, confiding in female coworker), and incidents which helped stop the harassment were described as significantly helpful. Incidents in which harassment did not stop or was perceived to get worse, or incidents in which the participant did not feel emotionally supported and even blamed for being in the situation were described as significantly hindering. Implications for counselling practice and employers are presented and recommendations for future research are discussed.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Tables	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Significance of the Topic	1
Purpose of the Study and Research Question	
Location of Self in the Research	2 2 3
Overview of the Thesis	3
Chapter Two: Literature Review	5
Sexual Harassment	5
Definition	5
Dynamics of Sexual Harassment	6
Prevalence	10
Context	13
Effects of Sexual Harassment	17
Coping	18
Coping with Sexual Harassment	19
Summary	24
Chapter Three: Method	26
Rationale for my Choice of Methodology	26
Critical Incident Technique	27
Participants	28
Research Procedures	30
Data Collection	33
Ethical Considerations	34
Potential Risks	35
Potential Benefits	36
Data Analysis	37
Trustworthiness	40
Chapter Four: Research Findings	47
Actions of Participants, Helpful	47
1. Discussing Experience with a Coworker	48
2. Protecting Younger Coworkers	48
3. Taking Formal Action	50
4. Participant Tells Perpetrator to Stop	51

5. Participant Removes Self from Situation	52
Actions of Participants, Hindering	52
1. Minimizing Harassment	52
a) Making light of harassment or minimizing severity	52
b) Ignoring harassment	53
2. Participant Discusses Harassment with Perpetrator	53
3. Use of Drugs and Alcohol	54
4. Altering Style of Dress	54
5. Avoiding Perpetrator	55
Actions of Others, Helpful	55
1. Support	55
a) Providing assurance of future support	55
b) Coworkers assure participant she	56
is not doing something wrong	
c) Providing emotional support	57
2. Protection	57
a) Coworkers protecting participant from perpetrator	57
b) Taking action to stop harassment	58
3. Practical Suggestions	58
Actions of Others, Hindering	59
1. Judgmental Responses	59
a) Criticizing participant	59
b) Blaming participant	59
2. Information-Giving in the Absence of Support	60
3. Not Taking Action	60
Summary	61
Chapter Five: Discussion	63
Emotion-Focused Coping	63
Social Support	63
Avoidance	65
Minimizing	66
Substance Use	67
Problem-Focused Coping	67
Confrontation	67
Formal Complaints	68
Implications for Counselling Practice	69
Implications for Employers	70
Limitations	71
Future Research	72
Conclusion	73

REFERENCES	76
APPENDICES	
Appendix A: Informative Poster	83
Appendix B: Information Sheet	84
Appendix C: Research Ethics Board Informed Consent Form	86
Appendix D: Demographic Information Form	87
Appendix E: Critical Incident Data Sheet	88

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	The Percentage of Agreement Between the Judges' and the Researcher's Category Schemes	41
Table 2	Participation Rates: Actions of Participants, Helpful	43
Table 3	Participation Rates: Actions of Participants, Hindering	44
Table 4	Participation Rates: Actions of Others, Helpful	45
Table 5	Participation Rates: Actions of Others, Hindering	46
Table 6	Groups, Categories, and Subcategories	49

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the people whose contributions have helped me to be successful in this process. First and foremost, I would like to thank the women who participated in this study for placing their trust in me and for their willingness to share their stories. Secondly, thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Corinne Koehn for her time and commitment. Thank you as well to committee members Dr. Judy Hughes and Dr. Linda O'Neill for their support and encouragement. I extend my utmost gratitude to my family for standing by me on this journey; and, finally, I would like to thank my fiancé for his constant love and faith, and for believing in my success even when I did not.

#### Chapter 1: Introduction

It angered me that he was doing this... and it angered me that I had to be like that because I'm not... I'm not a confrontational person... at the time. I think I'm more confrontational now than I was then um, but I was not a confrontational person and so at the time it made me feel like crap that I actually had to say this to him and why wasn't I being... why weren't women being protected more (07).

Sexual harassment has become a pervasive issue in schools, the workplace, and the community. In 2008, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission received over 13, 867 charges of work related sexual harassment alone, with 84.1 % of these charges being filed by women. In a study of Canadian universities, half of all women surveyed reported being the victim of some form of sexual harassment on campus (McDaniel & Van Roosmalen, 1991). As a response to this widespread phenomenon, there is an abundance of research that categorizes the behavioural reactions of women who have experienced harassment; however, it has been suggested that future research should use qualitative methodologies to create a more comprehensive understanding of coping behaviours (Magley, 2000).

#### Significance of the Topic

Sexual harassment is a widespread social issue and as a result, coping with sexual harassment is an important area of research. As reflected in the above quotation, women are often faced with the difficult task of dealing with experiences of sexual harassment at school, in the workplace, and in various other contexts. Research to date has examined the strategies that women have employed to cope with incidents of sexual harassment, and studies have categorized coping behaviours and described the frequency with which they have been used (Bingham & Scherer, 1993; Fitzgerald, Schullman, Bailey, & Richards, 1988; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Magley, 2002; Weiss & Lalonde, 2001). The participant in the above

quotation describes conflicting feelings regarding the means she chose to cope with her experience of harassment. I suspect that this discord is widely echoed among other women who have had similar experiences, which poses the question of what does and does not work for women coping with experiences of sexual harassment.

#### Purpose of Study and Research Question

The purpose of the present study was to examine women's perceptions of helpful and hindering experiences of coping with sexual harassment. A qualitative research method was used to not only identify the types of incidents that were significantly helpful and hindering, but also to describe how these incidents added to or took away from experiences of coping. The specific research question was, "what is helpful and what is hindering in experiences of coping with sexual harassment?"

### Location of Self in the Research

Sexual harassment is something that I have always been aware of; it is safe to say that many of us know it exists but for a variety of reasons it does not get the attention and commitment to change that is deserved. During my undergraduate degree I volunteered with the sexual harassment advisor at my university, which was an eye opening experience for me. Until I spent some time in the harassment office, I had no idea just how prevalent sexual harassment was on campus; I knew some of the targets, and worse yet, I knew some of the perpetrators. I began to question why it was happening and why students were not hearing about it. Are students aware of university sexual harassment policies? Do students need to be educated on what sexual harassment actually is? Do the responses to reports of sexual harassment meet the targets' needs? However, the problem became very real to me when a close friend of mine was sexually harassed at a gathering hosted for a conference being held

by her academic department. The incident was blatant gender harassment and extremely derogatory and hurtful. She became anxious and reported feelings of both anger and sadness. She also described feeling misunderstood by her family and friends, who did not seem to understand how deeply the experience had affected her. Being so close to someone who had an experience like this led me to question the process of coping with sexual harassment there seems to be a gap between what women need in order to cope effectively, and what actually happens. When I began reviewing literature for this topic, I noticed that there was an abundance of quantitative literature that provided descriptive statistics in terms of the percentages of women who are harassed, the frequency of the harassment, the demographics of women who are most vulnerable to sexual harassment, and so on. However, there were very few studies that provided a platform for women's voices to be heard or that presented them the opportunity to describe their experiences of sexual harassment and the aftermath. Looking back, I regret not asking my friend "what do you need, and how can I help you deal with this incident?" I am pleased that this study has provided me with a second chance to give my friend, and others like her a different forum through which they can tell their stories and say what was helpful and what was hindering in their specific experiences of coping with sexual harassment.

#### Overview of the Thesis

Chapter 1 has provided an introduction to the topic of study and identified the research question that will be addressed, as well as my personal connection with the research. Chapter 2 will review the existing literature on sexual harassment, including a definition of the phenomenon and its introduction as a social problem, the prevalence of sexual harassment in our society, the context in which sexual harassment takes place, and the effects

of sexual harassment on targets. Chapter 3 will include a rationale for my choice of the Critical Incident Technique as the research method, a detailed description of the technique, a description of participant recruitment, data collection and analysis, ethical considerations, and results of trustworthiness checks. Chapter 4 will describe the findings of the research. Finally, Chapter 5 will discuss the original research question, interpret the results of the study, and demonstrate the manner in which findings from the present study were supported by existing literature. Implications for counselling practice and for employers will be discussed, importance of the research findings will be explored, and suggestions for future research and limitations of the study will be addressed.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

This chapter will provide an overview of sexual harassment with a review of the existing literature. The literature review will include a definition of the phenomenon and its introduction as a social problem, the prevalence of sexual harassment in our society, the context in which sexual harassment takes place, the effects of sexual harassment, and definitions and clarification of terms.

#### Sexual Harassment

#### Definition

Sexual harassment is defined as "unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature" (U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, March 2009). The sexual harassment policy from the human resource department of the University of New Brunswick adds that behaviours are considered sexual harassment when submission to the conduct described above is made a condition of employment, academic status or academic accreditation; when there are implicit or explicit employment or academic consequences to rejection of such conduct; when such conduct interferes with an individual's academic or working performance; and finally, when such conduct creates a tense or hostile working or academic environment (University of New Brunswick: Human Resources and Organizational Development, Policy Concerning Sexual Harassment, 1990). The sexual harassment policy for the University of Northern British Columbia (2003) effectively elaborates on this definition, adding that unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature can be considered sexual harassment when such behaviour may "reasonably be expected to cause embarrassment, insecurity, discomfort, offense or humiliation to another person or

group of persons" (p. 4). Finally, the Canadian Human Rights Commission concludes that sexual harassment is thought to have taken place if a reasonable person ought to have known that such behaviour was unwelcome (Canadian Human Rights Commission Research and Special Studies Branch, 1983, p. 4). In Canada, it is the legal responsibility of federal, provincial, and territorial courts to investigate and work to resolve complaints of sexual harassment (Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women, 1993, p. 3).

#### Dynamics of Sexual Harassment

Fitzgerald, Gelfand, and Drasgow have said that "sexual harassment research arose not as a matter of academic or theoretical interest, but in response to the need to solve a pressing social problem" (1995, p. 437). Despite previous attitudes, present day researchers and experts in the area of sexual harassment have come to the conclusion that sexual harassment is about power and not about sex, and while it would be inaccurate to say that sexual harassment is not an issue for men, it seems to be a much more prominent issue for women in our society (Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women; Hitlan, Schneider, & Walsh, 2006; Huerta, Cortina, Pang, Torges, & Magley, 2006; Pryor, 1995; Rederstorff, Buchanan, & Settles, 2007; Salisbury, Stringer, Ginorio, & Remick, 1986; Valente & Bullough, 2004; Welsh & Gruber, 1999). The Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women argues that sexual harassment serves as a means for men to degrade women by treating them as sexual objects in non-sexual contexts, which hinders women's ability to effectively work, learn, and function as equal and respected members of society. McDaniel and Van Roosmalen (1991) agreed with this theory of sexual harassment, arguing that it serves as a means to undermine women's authority and to reinforce their traditionally subordinate role in society. In their study of sexual harassment in the lives of young women

in Canadian universities, the authors hypothesized that young female students would be more vulnerable to sexual harassment because they are youthful, unsure of who they are, economically dependent, and because they have a number of opportunities both academically and casually to interact with men who are in positions of power over them. In support of this prediction, results from the study found that the women's academic superiors were more likely to be perpetrators of the harassment than were the women's peers, and that most of the sexual harassment happened on campus. Interestingly enough, contrary to the hypothesis, no significant differences were found between women of various ages and economic status.

Sexual harassment is a widespread social problem that permeates various institutions and takes place in everyday situations. However, regardless of how rife the phenomenon seems to be, studies have continuously found that when women are the targets of inappropriate sexual behaviour they are hesitant to independently label the behaviour as "sexual harassment", even though they will agree that the behaviours constitute sexual harassment when explicitly asked (Weiss & Lalonde, 2001). However, studies have also found that women are more likely to label behaviours as sexual harassment when the perpetrators' actions are blatant and unambiguous than they are when the perpetrator engages in more ambiguous behaviours (Galesic & Tourangeau, 2007; Sigal, Braden-Maguire, Patt, Goodrich, & Perrino, 2003; Weiss & Lalonde, 2001). For example, a study by Weiss and Lalonde (2001) compared female students' reactions to hypothetical scenarios between a professor and a female student. In the first and more unambiguous scenario, the professor places his hand on a female student's knee and suggests that if she were to "hold back less" during their one-on-one meetings together then she would be able to obtain a better grade in the class. A second and more ambiguous scenario describes the professor as joking with the

student and mentioning that she seems to hold back in the personal interactions the same way she holds back in her writing. Results from this study showed that female students were more likely to label the unambiguous scenario as sexual harassment as compared to the more ambiguous scenario. Similarly, a study by Galesic and Tourangeau (2007) found that female employees were more likely to label obvious behaviours such as receiving an email of a nude woman as sexual harassment as compared to more subtle behaviours such as a manager setting "impossible" deadlines for a female employee.

Because we know that women are often unwilling to label harassing behaviours as such, research is exploring the question of what sexual harassment actually is, and why women are hesitant to use those words. Wear, Aultman, and Borges (2007) conducted a qualitative study of women at five American medical schools to investigate the prevalence of sexually harassing behaviours and women's interpretations of them. The authors found that the female participants were exposed to a range of sexually inappropriate behaviours by male superiors and colleagues, including sexual innuendo, explicit sexual banter, and crude language about women and the female anatomy in general; however, they often made no attempt to stop the behaviour and sometimes ignored it completely. As an explanation for this response, one female medical student said "there is an attitude among women in medicine that 'boys will be boys' and that they will say what they want to when they want to" (Wear et al., 2007, p. 22). This suggests that inappropriate and sexually harassing behaviour has become so commonplace in society that it has become normalized, leading women to believe it to be part of the culture and that there is little that can be done about it. Wear and colleagues (2007) also note that there are other explanations as to why women may be unlikely to label inappropriate behaviours as sexual harassment; they may fear alienation

from the very institution or group they are speaking out against, or the social, economic or academic consequences of speaking out against a boss, supervisor, or academic superior. For example, one female medical student reported that the reason that she did not speak out against the inappropriate behaviours of her male colleagues was that there is the unspoken mentality that women in medical school need to "suck it up", and that she did not want to be "labeled as someone who is not a team player" (p. 26).

Research has also shown that the female victim's interpretation of inappropriate behaviours can be equally as important as the behaviours themselves when it comes to the labeling of sexual harassment. Some studies have found that the likelihood of a woman defining unwanted sexual attention as sexual harassment can be influenced by the woman's "personal network", defined as "others with whom the target individual communicates with on a regular basis" (Itaru, 2003, p. 202). In particular, women who have strong views of sexual harassment as a societal issue are more likely to label sexual harassment as such and are less likely to be influenced by their personal network, as they are more likely to carefully consider all the factors involved in and the consequences of this behaviour. However, women who do not have strong views of sexual harassment are less likely to label inappropriate behaviour as sexual harassment, and are more likely to be influenced by the opinions of the personal network without taking into consideration the personal and political factors involved (Itaru, 2003). Similarly, a study of both men and women found that women experience sexual harassment more than men, not necessarily because they experience inappropriate behaviours more often but because they evaluated the behaviours more negatively than male counterparts would (Berdahl, 2007). Fitzgerald, Shullman, Bailey, and Richards (1988) found that a "large number of women who have experienced relatively

blatant instances" (p.171) of sexual harassment fail to recognize and label the experience as such, but that the likelihood of labeling inappropriate behaviours as sexual harassment will increase with the severity and frequency of harassing incidents.

Finally, one study indicated that incidents of unwanted sexual behaviour in the workplace were consistently associated with negative psychological, work, and health consequences, regardless of whether or not the target labeled the unwanted behaviour as sexual harassment. This suggests that it is the experience of the unwanted behaviour and not the label of "sexual harassment" itself that leads to negative outcomes for those who experience it (Magley, Hulin, Fitzgerald, & DeNardo, 1999).

#### Prevalence

The Canadian Human Right's Commission deals with complaints of sexual harassment and cases of discrimination on the grounds of sex, and in 1983 they surveyed Canadian men and women and asked them of their experiences with unwanted sexual attention. Results from this survey were startling to the public, as it identified how pervasive sexually harassing behaviours have become in society. The study found that 49% of women and 33% of men reported experiencing at least one type of unwanted sexual behaviour in the past year and as previously discussed, women were more likely than men to label the unwanted sexual attention as harassment. In a study of women in the U.S. military, Pryor (1995) found that 64% of the female respondents had experienced at least one form of uninvited sexual attention by military peers in the past year with the perpetrators of the uninvited attention being almost always reported as men; less than 1% of those who were harassed named a single woman as the perpetrator. In a more recent study of sexual

harassment of women in the military, 61% of female participants reported experiencing at least one form of inappropriate sexual behaviour within a one month period (Vijayasiri, 2008). A study by Hitlan, Schneider, and Walsh (2006) used questionnaires to examine employed females' personal experiences with sexual harassment, as well as their experiences with the sexual harassment of others. Results of this study found that 78% of the women had experienced at least one "potentially" sexually harassing behaviour in the past year, and that 69.2% of the participants had witnessed another female being sexually harassed within their organization by a male supervisor or co-worker within the past year. Finally, along these same lines, one study found that 56.6% of college women had been the target of inappropriate sexual behaviours in the past year, and that the majority of the unwanted behaviours happened on campus (Huerta, Cortina, Pang, Torges, & Magley, 2006).

Regardless of the actual percentages, these studies consistently indicate that a significant number of women experience and/or witness sexual harassment in their school or place of work.

Over the past few decades sexual harassment has been researched at length, and many authors have attempted to divide behaviours into categories that describe various types of behaviours and levels of severity. In the review of the literature, the most commonly used categories were those proposed by Gelfand, Fitzgerald, and Drasgow (1995), who argue that the three categories of gender harassment, unwanted sexual attention, and sexual coercion are "necessary and sufficient to classify any particular incident of harassment" (p. 167). Gender harassment is defined as "a range of verbal and nonverbal behaviours generally not aimed at sexual cooperation; rather, they convey insulting, hostile, and degrading attitudes about women" (p. 168). Examples of gender harassment include nicknames, slurs, taunts, and

gestures; the display or distribution of obscene or pornographic materials; gender based hazing; and threatening, intimidating or hostile acts. Unwanted sexual attention is just what the title implies; it can be displayed with both verbal and nonverbal behaviours and can take the form of unreciprocated requests for dates or repeated and non-reciprocated attempts to contact the target and any grabbing, touching or sexual imposition of the target. This category is separate from the category of sexual coercion in the way that noncompliance with the unwanted attention is not associated with job loss or benefits to the target. Finally, sexual coercion refers to behaviours in the form of bribes or threats to the target of the harassment that can be either explicit or implicit in nature and that imply that maintenance of the target's position or benefits to the target are conditional of sexual compliance.

Gender harassment is the most common harassment reported by targets and many studies have claimed that gender harassment accounts for at least 50 % of all sexual harassment reported (Canadian Human Rights Commission, 1983; Fitzgerald et al., 1988; Galesic & Tourangeau, 2007; Gelfand et al., 1995; Pryor, 1995; Slotten, 2002). Unwanted sexual attention is estimated to account for 20% to 25 % of all reported harassment, and sexual coercion is the least frequently reported, falling into the 5% to 10 % range. One possible explanation for this is that sexual coercion involves the potential for targets to face loss of job or benefits if they do not comply with the perpetrator's requests; therefore it is reasonable to assume that participants would be more hesitant to report behaviours in this category than they would be to report other types of sexual harassment (Gelfand et al., 1995). Another possible explanation is that the more recognizable and aggressive acts of sexual harassment are easier to name, and so have now become socially unacceptable and easier to

report. Gender harassment is harder to name and, as a result, more difficult to distinguish and report.

#### Context

Women's perceptions of what constitutes sexual harassment, and the likelihood to label and report sexual harassment, have been found to vary depending on the context that the woman is in at the time the inappropriate behaviours take place. One factor that has been shown to influence the way women experience sexual harassment is the perception women have of how tolerant various organizations are of inappropriate and harassing behaviours (Bingham & Scherer, 1993; Fitzgerald et al., 1995; Handy, 2006). In a study of three diverse workplaces in rural New Zealand, Handy (2006) concluded that "the boundaries which women draw between acceptable and unacceptable male behaviours are highly context specific and vary between different settings" (p. 21). For example, one of the organizations in this study was a meat-processing plant, that was a male dominated environment known for its misogynist attitude toward female employees in the form of overt sexual harassment, intimidation, and the implied feeling that management and the union are not only aware of but actually supportive of the harassment. Some research has found that when women perceive their workplace to be more encouraging of sexual harassment they will respond more aggressively to the situation and report the behaviour to a family member or friend perhaps because they feel that the institution will not act on her behalf. For example, in the study by Handy, one woman was the target of requests for sexual favors by a male coworker. In response to the inappropriate requests, the participant confided in her father, who then spoke to the plant manager on her behalf in an attempt to resolve the situation and stop the harassment.

Studies have also shown that the norms, culture, and standards of a particular workplace will play a role in the way that sexual harassment is expressed by employees, and in turn, will influence the way targets choose to respond. As previously discussed, when an organization is perceived by the target as being tolerant of harassment, the target sometimes chooses to respond by confiding in a friend or family member about the harassment, perhaps as a way to find the support that they do not think they would obtain if they were to disclose to someone within the organization. However, in a study of women's responses to sexual harassment in the United States military, Malamut and Offermann (2001) found that the more tolerant of harassment the women perceived the military to be, the more likely they were to deny that there was a problem and avoid the subject of the harassment altogether. This was consistent with a study of women in medical schools who felt that because of the traditional, male dominated culture of their medical school environment, they had to take on a "boys will be boys" attitude in order to cope with the blatant prevalence of sexual harassment within the institution (Wear et al., 2007). In addition to gathering data from a meat processing plant, Handy (2006) interviewed employees of a retail store about their experiences with sexual harassment. The retail store was a female dominated environment, and most of the harassment was perpetrated by male customers. In this context, because the organizational tolerance for sexual harassment was perceived to be low, management was trusted by the employees, who believed they would be supported if they complained of harassment by colleagues or customers. In this situation, women found the harassment "irritating", but it was not as pervasive as compared to those organizations in which women perceived institutional attitudes toward sexual harassment to be high. On the other hand, female employees in this business also had to deal with male colleagues from other organizations,

such as security guards, and sexual harassment perpetrated by these individuals was often described as "normal" and was for the most part overlooked by female employees.

Organizational responses to complaints of sexual harassment will also influence targets' perceptions of the workplace and the investigative process (Elkins, Phillips, & Ward, 2008; Elkins & Velez-Castrillon, 2008; Nelson, Halpert, & Cellar, 2007); however, research indicates that some organizational policies may not be enough to prevent inappropriate behaviour and do not necessarily provide the protection targets are seeking (Chamberlain, Crowley, Tope, & Hodson, 2008; Hertzog, Wright, & Beat, 2008). In a study of organizational responses to sexual harassment, Nelson, Halpert, and Cellar (2007) explored employees' perceptions of which types of interventions were effective in responding to and preventing sexual harassment. Participants were asked to rate which of the following they perceived as most effective in communicating organizational intolerance of sexual harassment: victim reassignment and transfer, perpetrator counselling and rehabilitation, perpetrator apology and verbal/written reprimand (scolding), perpetrator demotion and leave of absence, or termination of the perpetrator's employment. Results found that termination of the perpetrator was rated as most effective in communicating organizational intolerance of sexual harassment, while scolding the perpetrator was rated by participants as being the second least effective means of communicating organizational intolerance. It is important to note that results of this study indicated that participants rated any intervention that involved the victim (i.e., victim reassignment and transfer) as least effective in communicating organizational intolerance of sexual harassment. This study suggests that targets of sexual harassment believe that in order to communicate intolerance of inappropriate sexual

behaviour it is important for organizations to implement consequences that directly impact the perpetrator of the harassment.

Research findings regarding how harassing behaviours are perceived cross-culturally seems to be inconsistent. Some studies have found that harassing behaviours are experienced similarly by targets, regardless of culture, and that measures of sexual harassment can be applied cross culturally as an organizational issue with similar occupational, psychological, and health related consequences (Bergman & Henning, 2008; Wasti, Bergman, Glomb, & Drasgow, 2000). For example, in a study of sexual harassment of female nurses by male patients in Japan, the most common type of harassing behaviours were those that could be categorized as "gender harassment"— making sexual jokes and remarks, and teasing (Hibino, Ogino & Inagaki, 2006). Also, in their cross-cultural study on the structure of sexual harassment, Gelfand et al. (1995) found that behavioural relationships could be formed to support and fit into the three categories of harassment, even despite the fact that they were studying a culture whose language (Portuguese) has no word to describe the concept of sexual harassment. Other studies have found that sexual harassment will be experienced differently across cultures due to varying interpretations of everyday social interactions such as personal space, and verbal and non verbal cues (Li & Lee-Wong, 2005; Merkin, 2008). Other research has indicated that distinct societal traits such as patriarchy, collectivism, and socially acceptable gender roles can influence the way that unwanted sexual attention is perceived and the coping strategies employed by targets (Cortina & Wasti, 2005; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). In their research on coping responses across persons, organizations, and cultures, Cortina and Wasti (2005) found cultural affiliation to be one of the most influential components in the determination of coping styles. For example, women

from patriarchal, collectivist cultures were less likely to engage in assertive, public, or more vocal means of coping. Instead, they reported using avoidance, denial, and social-coping strategies without seeking formal advocacy. Women from these cultures also reported using subtle, non-verbal cues as coping strategies (e.g. frowning) to convey displeasure with the behaviour, while still allowing the perpetrator of the unwanted sexual attention to "save face".

#### Effects of Sexual Harassment

Sexual harassment is detrimental to those who experience it, and can have serious and long term effects (Gruber & Fineran, 2007). Female targets of sexual harassment have reported a wide range of symptoms as a result of the experience, some of which are consistent with the symptomology associated with Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (O'Donohue, Mosco, Bowers, & Avina, 2006). Women who have experienced sexual harassment have reported a range of symptoms and emotions, including, guilt, embarrassment, fear, anxiety, anger, depression, difficulty sleeping, confusion, and the inability to concentrate (Canadian Advisory Council Factsheet, 1993; Hibino et al., 2006; O'Donohue et al., 2006; Salisbury et al., 1986). Studies of women who experience sexual harassment in both high school and post secondary institutions have shown that the experience of being the target of harassment can lead to increased psychological distress, lower academic satisfaction, and a decrease in academic performance (Huerta et al., 2006; O'Donohue et al., 2006; Slotten, 2002). As the frequency and intensity of harassment increases, so do reported symptoms of depression and anxiety. Pryor (1995) found that 60% of women who have experienced sexual harassment in their school or work place will experience negative feelings about the institution in general. Sexual harassment can also take

away from a female target's performance in the workplace; several studies have found that in their sample over half of women reported that they experienced productivity problems after the harassing incident (Bowling & Beehr, 2006; Chan, Lam, Chow, & Cheung, 2008; Huerta et al., 2006; Pryor, 1995; Rederstorff, Buchanan, & Settles, 2007; Slotten, 2002). Studies of female nurses who experienced sexual harassment on the job reported that at times they found the inappropriate behaviours so distressing that they could not think clearly about assessment or patient care, and distracting to the point that they were more likely to make mistakes that were uncharacteristic of them (Hibino et al., 2006; Pryor, 1995; Valente & Bullough, 2004).

#### Coping

Coping is defined as "constantly changing cognitive and behavioural efforts to manage specific external and/or internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person" (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, p. 141). Lazarus and Folkman argue that coping strategies can be divided into the two categories of emotion-focused coping and problem-focused coping, and research is now employing this distinction. Emotion-focused coping strategies take place when the target of the stressful situation evaluates the threatening, harmful, or challenging environment and comes to the conclusion that it cannot be changed. Emotion-focused coping consists of cognitive processes that are intended to reduce distress to the target individual, and can include behaviours such as avoidance, minimizing, distancing, selective attention, positive comparison, and taking positive values from negative events. Individuals may also engage in behaviours in an attempt to "take their mind off of the situation", such as strenuous exercise to express anger, meditating, indulging in alcohol or other mind altering substances, and seeking emotional support. Problem-

focused coping strategies take place when the target of the stressful situation evaluates the harmful, threatening or challenging environment and makes the decision that it is able to be changed. Problem-focused coping strategies are directed inward, as the individual attempts to brainstorm solutions in order to alter the stressful situation, conducting a cost-benefit analysis on these solutions to determine their potential effectiveness and finally choosing from the pool of solutions in order to put a plan into place.

Skinner, Edge, Altman, and Sherwood (2003) elaborated on the categorization of coping strategies as either emotion focused or problem focused, and argued that "any given way of coping is likely to serve many functions" (p. 248). These authors suggested that there were five categories of coping that commonly appeared in the studies they critiqued, which included: problem solving (e.g., planning, logistical analysis), support seeking (e.g., seeking advice, comfort, or contact with other people), avoidance (e.g., avoidant actions, or cognitive avoidance), direct action (e.g., deliberate action on part of the individual to control situation), and distraction (e.g., engaging in some other, more pleasurable activity, [p. 225]).

#### Coping with Sexual Harassment

Research on female targets' responses to sexual harassment has shown that minimizing the impact of the incident is a common strategy that women employ in order to cope (Salisbury et al., 1986; Slotten, 2002; Wear et al., 2007). Studies have found that women will "make light" of the situation, shrugging it off as unimportant or even as acceptable, despite the fact that their behaviours may show otherwise. In a study of high school harassment, one young woman was the target of unwanted sexual touches and comments by a male teacher, but described the situation as "no big deal"; however, she also

disclosed that she "hated" the class that was taught by the perpetrating teacher, and that she felt that she had to stay quiet in class in order to avoid contact with him (Slotten, 2002). The same study reported that many young female targets of sexual harassment described their experiences with sexual harassment as "not important enough to tell anybody", but also described general dissatisfaction with their high school experience. Women may also feel that they have no choice but to allow the harassment to "roll off their backs"; otherwise they will be unhappy in their school or place of work. A study of female medical students found that targets were likely to minimize frequent inappropriate sexual comments and behaviours made by male colleagues, stating in one sentence that it did not bother them, but later saying that they had to build up tolerance to this kind of behaviour because the only other choice was to be "miserable" during their residency (Wear et al., 2007). As previously discussed, women are hesitant to use the words "sexual harassment" to describe their experience with unwanted and/or inappropriate sexual behaviours, which can also be a way to minimize the experience. Instead of labeling the behaviours as harassment, female targets sometimes choose to frame the experience the most positive way possible, or to use "nice" or "academic" words to explain what happened, which serves as a way for targets to distance themselves from the impact of the experience and to separate themselves from the emotions involved (Salisbury et al., 1986).

Avoidance is another common way that female targets of sexual harassment choose to cope with the experience of harassment. Because the perpetrator of sexual harassment is typically in a position of power or authority over the female target of the harassment, women often fear the consequences of reporting or confronting the harasser. Therefore, it is not uncommon for women to report that in response to their experience with sexual harassment

that they chose to "do nothing", choosing instead to avoid contact with the perpetrator both cognitively and behaviourally (Cortina & Wasti, 2005; Wilkinson, Gill, Fitzjohn, Palmer, & Mulder, 2006). Avoidance of the perpetrator can consist of negotiation with the accused to avoid being in the same place at the same time, quitting one's job, dropping out of a class, finding a new supervisor, and so on. Avoidance can also consist of cognitive strategies such as denial that the harassment ever happened and refusal to acknowledge or discuss the incident. Several studies have shown that women's satisfaction with the outcome of the situation of sexual harassment will decrease as the authority of the perpetrator and the organization's tolerance for sexual harassment increases, which will lead to a greater likelihood of employing avoidance as a coping strategy (Bingham & Scherer, 1993; Handy, 2006; Malamut & Offermann, 2001).

Seeking social support is an emotion-focused coping method employed by vulnerable people, including female targets of sexual harassment (Dakof & Taylor, 1990). Social support networks can act as a safeguard for vulnerable people in stressful situations, and they have been shown to decrease target individuals' levels of distress (Frazier & Burnett, 1994; Green & Pomeroy, 2007; Kocot & Goodman, 2003; Reynolds & Harris, 2006; Wethington & Kessler, 1986; Yagil, 2008). Studies have shown that it is common for targets of harassment to disclose their experiences to close friends and family members, and that it is more uncommon for women to turn to formal support providers such as the department of human resources, labor unions, or the police (Ahrens, Campbell, Ternier-Thames, Wasco, & Sefl, 2007; Cortina, 2004; Cox, 2005; Wilkinson et al., 2006). In a study of immediate coping strategies among rape victims (Frazier & Burnett, 1994), women were asked to respond to the open ended question "what have you done if anything since the rape that has made you

feel better?" Results showed that seeking social support and talking about the rape were among the most helpful actions mentioned by participants. In the same study, boyfriends, mothers, and female friends were listed as individuals to whom targets most commonly disclosed. One study examined the role that social support plays for victims of crime, and discussion of findings stated that "social support and emotion-focused coping appear to have a critical role in successful recovery from a crime event" (Green & Pomeroy, 2007, p. 109). A recent study also reported the benefits of social support in experiences of coping with sexual harassment, and interestingly found that having more female friends was positively associated with the act of reporting incidents of sexual harassment among both men and women (Elkins & Velez-Castrillon, 2008).

As previously mentioned, it is uncommon for female targets of harassment to report their experiences to formal support providers. There are a number of reasons why women may be hesitant to make formal complaints; they may feel that there is "no point", that they will not be taken seriously, or that the perpetrator will face no consequences. Research on female members of the United States military found that "a significant number of military women who filed formal complaints expressed dissatisfaction with the complaint handling process" (Vijayasiri, 2008, p. 55). Reasons for participants' dissatisfaction included feelings that nothing was being done about their complaints, frustration that no disciplinary action was taken against the perpetrator of the harassment, and feelings that the harassing situation was not corrected. Research by Nelson, Halpert, and Cellar (2007) found that more severe responses to sexual harassment are perceived by participants as more effective in both communicating organizational intolerance of harassment and acting as deterrents to the inappropriate behaviour. Targets may also fear the consequences of reporting sexual

harassment; one woman said that female medical students who experience sexual harassment "become concerned about what would happen to their evaluations if they reported. Faculty couldn't change your objective grade but they could say something in your subjective evaluation" (Wear et al., 2007, p. 23). A study of rape survivors' first disclosures found that women most often chose to disclose their experiences to close friends and family members as an attempt to receive emotional support, information, and to have the ability to talk and "get things off their chest" (Ahrens, Campbell, Ternier-Thames, Wasco, & Sefl, 2007). In a study of cancer victims' perceptions of social support, participants reported that it was most helpful when their spouse, friends, and family members provided emotional support, affection, and expressed concern or simply offered their physical presence. The same participants described that the situations they found most unhelpful and most hurtful were when family and friends would avoid social contact with them, or be critical of their situations (Dakof & Taylor, 1990).

Women who have experienced sexual harassment will also band together with other women as a means of coping. This can take the form of networking with other women who have experienced harassment, or simply making sure that they are not walking alone but are always in the company of another woman whenever possible (Handy, 2006; Slotten, 2002). This can help explain why group therapy is so helpful for female targets of sexual harassment; having the opportunity to share their experience with other women who have had similar experiences helps to validate the victim's feelings and reinforce the fact that she did not "make it up". It can also help women to feel less afraid, guilty, and alone when they have the opportunity to hear stories that are similar to their own and can identify with the feelings because they have "walked in their shoes" (Salisbury et. al., 1986; Sigal et al., 2003).

#### Summary

Sexual harassment is a pervasive societal issue that has been widely studied within the academic community. There is a great deal of quantitative research available which categorizes the behavioural responses of women who have experienced sexual harassment, as well as literature which describes the types of coping strategies that are employed by women who have been through a harassing incident. As a result of the existing literature, we know that the majority of women experience sexual harassment in schools or their place of work; however, they are also hesitant and even unwilling to independently label harassing behaviour as such, though they will agree the same behaviours constitute harassment when directly asked.

Sexual harassment can be emotionally and psychologically taxing for those who experience it, and it has been known to cause feelings of depression and anxiety, fear and anger, and lack of concentration. It has also been found that when women are the victims of sexual harassment they report feeling less satisfied with their lives in general, and that they show a decrease in productivity in school and/or their place of work (Canadian Advisory Council Fact sheet, 1993; Hibino et al., 2006; Huerta et al., 2006; O'Donohue et al., 2006; Salisbury et al., 1986).

Due to the potentially sensitive nature of the topic, much of the existing sexual harassment research is based on participants' responses to hypothetical scenarios of inappropriate sexual behaviour. However, while the use of hypothetical situations could cause less harm to participants as opposed to the use of real life experiences, it also reduces the validity of the results (Bingham & Scherer, 1993). My study contributes to the literature

by obtaining first hand accounts of real life experiences of coping with sexual harassment.

Magley (2000) also explains that there is a lack of literature examining how women cope with harassment, and those studies that do exist simply categorize coping behaviours and the frequency with which these behaviours occur.

This chapter provided a definition of sexual harassment and reviewed existing literature. Chapter 3 will discuss the methodology used in the study and provide participant demographic information.

#### Chapter 3: Method

This chapter will provide a rationale for my choice of methodology, a description of the Critical Incident Technique, and a summary of participant demographic information.

Details regarding research procedures will be provided, as well as procedures for data collection and analysis. Finally, trustworthiness checks proposed by Butterfield, Borgen, Amundson, and Maglio (2005) will be reviewed and results of trustworthiness checks from the current study will be presented.

#### Rationale for my Choice of Methodology

Traditionally, research employs quantitative methods of data collection, in which large qualities of data are collected and analyzed in the form of numbers so that the researcher is able to statistically describe tendencies of the general population (Creswell, 2005). Due to the sensitive nature of the topic of sexual harassment, one of the limitations of the existing literature is that most studies have focused on participants' responses to hypothetical scenarios as opposed to real life experiences (Weiss & Lalonde, 2001).

Bingham and Scherer (1993) stress that the use of hypothetical scenarios to study incidents of sexual harassment can be less harmful to participants, but it also weakens the validity and generalizability of the findings. Magley (2000) suggests that future research should utilize qualitative methods of data collection.

Qualitative research focuses on the collection of specific, detailed stories from a small number of participants. While analysis of qualitative data does not result in statistics that represent the larger population, it highlights the significance of each participant's story, and it is the uniqueness of the participant's situation that is thought to be important. Qualitative research is important because researchers strive to learn more about the phenomenon under

study from the participants' view, without placing them in contrived contexts with controlled variables, which results in a comprehensive look at experiences that are particular to a small sample of individuals (Creswell, 2005; Krefting, 1991).

A limitation to the existing published research is that although there are studies that identify women's coping behaviours when sexually harassed, most are quantitative and fail to provide a comprehensive account of coping (Magley, 2002). A qualitative methodology was determined to be most appropriate for exploring women's experiences of coping with sexual harassment.

#### Critical Incident Technique

This study applied the Critical Incident Technique (CIT) as outlined by Flanagan (1954) and Woolsey (1986). The CIT is a qualitative method of data collection that was originally developed by Flanagan and which stemmed from the aviation psychology program of the United States Armed Forces. The CIT uses a set of data collection procedures to accumulate direct, specific, and detailed observations of behaviour that are significant and subscribe to the criteria outlined by Flanagan and other experts in the field. The direct observations are classified as "incidents"; however, in order to be critical an incident must significantly add to or significantly take away from the phenomenon being studied. Finally, the categorization of critical incidents determines the specific behaviours that are fundamental to the general aim of the activity being studied.

The CIT is a flexible methodology and can be used for many different purposes. For example, it can examine effective and ineffective behaviours, helpful and hindering factors, functional or behavioural descriptions of events or problems, and characteristics that are critical to important aspects of an activity or event (Butterfield, Borgen, Amundson, &

Maglio, 2005). This flexibility stems from the fact that the CIT does not embody strict methods of data collection, but can be tailored to the specific situation under study. The method has been used in a variety of fields to gather detailed incidents, such as in nursing (Dachelet et al., 1981; Kemppainen, 2000; Lindsey & Attridge, 1989), counsellor education (Doxsee & Kivlrghan, 1994; Tryon, 2000), management education and training (Ellinger & Bostrom, 2002; Ellinger, Watkins, & Bostrom, 1999; O'Driscoll & Cooper, 1996), counselling (Amundson, Borgen, Jordan, & Erlebach, 2004; Butterfield & Borgen, 2005), and social work (Weyers & VanBerg, 2006).

The present study applied the Critical Incident Technique to examine women's real life incidents of sexual harassment and what they found helpful and hindering in their experiences of coping. This methodology was appropriate for the study of the phenomenon of sexual harassment because it was able to provide first hand, detailed accounts of women's experiences, which allowed for the compilation of data to tease out specific processes that significantly added to and significantly took away from women's experiences of coping. Participants recalled particular incidents to provide valuable information regarding what was most helpful and most hindering in coping with sexual harassment based on the participants' observed and experienced incidents.

#### **Participants**

Approval to conduct the study was obtained from the Research Ethics Board of the University of Northern British Columbia. In order to recruit participants, flyers were placed in the community and on the local university campus (Appendix A). The posters included an email address and phone number at which potential participants could contact me if they wished to receive further information or to volunteer for the study.

I conducted screening via telephone and/or email in order to ensure that participants met the necessary requirements to successfully participate in this study. The criteria for inclusion in the study were that participants: a) were females; b) were at least 19 years of age or older; c) met the criteria of the operational definition of sexual harassment, which was that they had experienced one or more of the following: unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature; implicit or explicit employment or academic consequences to rejection of such conduct when such conduct interferes with an individual's academic or working performance, or when such conduct creates a tense or hostile working or academic environment; and d) experienced embarrassment, insecurity, discomfort, offense, or humiliation as a result of the harassing behaviour. In order to establish safety so that participants felt comfortable telling their story, I made certain that all participants understood that it was not necessary to discuss the details of the actual harassing incident itself if they were uncomfortable doing so, as the focus of the research was solely on helpful and hindering experiences of coping.

Individual interviews with participants were held in the counselling lab at the University of Northern British Columbia or other locations that were convenient, confidential, and safe for both the researcher and the participants. For safety purposes, the researcher carried a cellular phone at all times in case an emergency arose. Prior to each interview, participants were provided with an information sheet specifying the purpose of the research and places where they may access counselling if necessary (Appendix B), as well as an informed consent form (Appendix C). At the time of the interview, participants also provided demographic information (Appendix D) and were asked to complete a critical incident data sheet for each incident (Appendix E).

Sixteen women contacted the researcher regarding participation, and 15 women met criteria and participated in this study. One woman's story was not included because her experience did not meet the researcher's definition of sexual harassment. Participants ranged in age from 21 to 44 years, with a mean age of 30 years. Twelve participants identified themselves as Caucasian, while three defined themselves as being of "other" ethnic origin (Portuguese/Chinese, Native American, and Italian/Ukranian). Six participants had received a university undergraduate degree, five had completed some college or university, one had obtained a high school diploma, two had completed a college diploma, and one had obtained a university graduate degree. Seven participants were employed full-time at the time of the interview, two were full - time students, five were full-time students who were also employed part-time, and one was unemployed. Eight participants had never been married, four were separated, one was in a common law relationship, and two were married. Twelve participants experienced their incidents of sexual harassment while at their place of work, one participant experienced the sexual harassment while at school, and two participants experienced the sexual harassment in places unrelated to school or work.

### Research Procedures

The Critical Incident Technique (CIT) consists of five major steps described by Flanagan (1954) to outline the entire research process. These steps include: 1) ascertaining the general aims of the activity being studied, 2) making plans and setting specifications, 3) collecting data, 4) analyzing the data, and 5) interpreting the data and reporting the results. These five steps describe procedures for creating a definition of the activity being studied, describing the type of situations that will be observed and who will observe them, data collection and analysis, category formation, and reporting research findings.

Step one of the CIT is, "ascertaining the general aims" and involves creating a serviceable definition of the activity being studied, as well as clearly pinpointing the "aim" or objective of the study (Butterfield et al., 2005). Butterfield and colleagues argued that this can be achieved when the researcher is able to answer the following questions: a) what is the objective of the activity, and b) what is the person expected to accomplish who engages in the activity? Flanagan (1954) argued that the aim of the activity under study could be determined by questioning professionals who are considered experts in the field or by questioning individuals who actually perform the behaviour. In the present study, the "activity" was a woman's attempt to cope with her experience of being sexually harassed. In order to create a working definition of the general aim of this "activity", I consulted sexual harassment advisors from two Canadian universities, as well as the coordinator of the Women's Center at The University of Northern British Columbia, who had herself researched sexual harassment and produced a DVD of her findings. After speaking to these experts, it was decided that the objective of women who are attempting to cope with the experience of being sexually harassed is a) for the harassment to stop, b) to feel safe in their everyday environment, and c) to move on with life. Along these same lines, it was decided that when coping with sexual harassment, a woman hopes to d) obtain a support network and a sense of understanding, e) a sense of justice against the harasser, and f) the opportunity to make sense of her experience. Flanagan argues that constructing a functional definition of the activity is required before any other planning or behavioural observations take place, as it defines the steps that should be taken if participation in the activity is thought to be successful. Woolsey (1986) states that creating a definition of the general aim is not only an important step, but also the most difficult. She argues that creating a definition requires "a

good deal of hard thinking" (p. 244), and that the researcher must form a well worded definition, as it is the one that participants use in order to decide upon which incidents they will report.

Step two of the CIT is "making plans and setting specifications." One specification is to determine the types of situations that will be observed, and who will make the observations. According to Flanagan (1954), the observer should be as familiar as possible with the activity, and should have observed the individual engaged in the activity on more than one occasion. Woolsey (1986) wrote that the person making the observations can be anyone who has experience with the activity and who can make first-hand observations, but that training may be needed in situations where the observer is being asked to report on the actions of others. In this case, Woolsey suggests that it is important to review the general aim of the activity with the observer, and to also provide the observer with a clear explanation of the observations on which they are reporting. In the present study, participants were the "observers" and were asked to report in detail on the thoughts, actions and behaviours of themselves and others as it applied to the experience of coping with sexual harassment.

Another specification is that incidents need to be "critical." Flanagan (1954) argued that an incident was considered critical when it made a "significant" positive or negative contribution to the general aim of the activity, with the definition of "significant" depending on the nature of the activity being studied. In order for incidents to be included in the present study, they had to be relevant to the general aim by either adding to or taking away from women's attempts to stop the harassment, to feel safe in their everyday environment, to move

on with life, to obtain a support network and a sense of understanding, to feel a sense of justice against the harasser, or to make sense of her experience.

#### Data Collection

The third major step in the critical incident technique is collecting the data. When using the CIT, data collection usually takes the form of an interview, and it is helpful to send a copy of the interview questions to the participants prior to the actual interview itself (Flanagan, 1954; Woolsey, 1986). Woolsey (1986) notes that it is important for the interview questions to contain information about exactly what type of incidents are being studied, so that observers are less likely to report on less important incidents, causing the data to become diffused. Flanagan (1954) wrote that participants have better memories when they are aware that an incident being observed needs to be remembered; therefore, it would be beneficial for participants to be shown the questions prior to the interview in order to increase the likelihood that participants will remember incidents in greater detail. Flanagan also noted that the accuracy of an incident can be judged depending on the amount of detail given, indicating that less detailed reports are less well remembered and the data could therefore be incorrect. For the current study, research questions were sent electronically to participants in order to allow them time to reflect and prepare answers. Interviews ranging from 45 minutes to two hours in length were conducted and audio taped. Only first hand observations that were recalled in sufficient detail were included in the data pool.

Participants were asked to describe what they did to cope, whether or not the coping strategy was helpful or hindering, and how the coping strategy was helpful or hindering.

Research questions for participant interviews were as follows, with subsequent prompts added as needed:

- Tell me about a time when you attempted to cope with the experience of being sexually harassed.
- 2. How did you choose to cope with this experience of sexual harassment?
- 3. Tell me about any incidents that you found significantly helpful (significantly added to) or that you found significantly hindering (significantly taking away from) to your experience of attempting to cope with sexual harassment.
- 4. In what way did this incident significantly add to or take away from your attempt to cope?

The collection of helpful and hindering incidents were counterbalanced — that is, I inquired about helpful incidents before hindering incidents with the first participant, hindering incidents before helpful incidents with the second participant, and so on. The collection of incidents alternated between helpful and hindering to reduce the impact that participant fatigue might have on participant reporting. As details of the incidents were collected, I made some notes regarding my initial thoughts and impressions; this reflexivity assisted with subsequent analysis of the data.

### **Ethical Considerations**

When conducting counselling research there are special ethical issues that need to be considered due to the potential sensitivity of the topics, with the main concerns being harms and benefits, privacy and confidentiality, and informed consent and deception (Creswell, 2005; Schultz, Sheppard, Lehr, & Sheppard, 2006). There were potential emotional and psychological risks associated with the study of sexual harassment, and as principal researcher it was my responsibility to foresee and attempt to minimize these risks. In an effort to make sure that consent was informed and voluntary and that the participants' best

interests were being served, I devised an information sheet with details on the purpose of the research, participants' commitment, confidentiality, where their information would be stored, who will have access to the data and when and how data will be destroyed (Appendix B). No deception was used, and I made certain participants were aware of how they could contact me if they had any questions or need for debriefing.

#### Potential Risks

There were no anticipated physical, social, legal, or economic risks associated with the present study. All participants chose to share their story on a volunteer basis with full knowledge prior to the interview as to what the study was exploring. Participants were informed that they could take a break during the interview process, or withdraw from the research at any time without penalty. However, due to the potentially sensitive nature of the topic, participants could possibly have experienced some psychological or emotional discomfort as a result of painful and/or embarrassing memories of their sexual harassment. A list of local counselling resources was provided at the time of the interview in the event that participants wanted information about where they could work with a professional to follow-up on any issues that may have surfaced as a result of participating in the study. Participants were also informed that it was not necessary to disclose information about the harassing experience itself, as it was not the focus of my study; however, if they did choose to disclose this experience to me I was open and willing to listen. I also allowed time for participants to debrief with me after the interview, and asked for feedback on how the experience was for them as well as what recommendations they had for how I might have made the experience better.

### Potential Benefits

The interviews were conducted in a confidential environment using empathic listening skills, which provided women the opportunity to express their true feelings about the incident, perhaps for the first time since the incident occurred.

The study also provided women with the chance to reflect on and voice what was helpful and hindering to them during their attempt to cope with the experience of sexual harassment, and hopefully to return to these methods of coping in other stressful situations. Voicing their helpful experiences might also have helped women to feel more knowledgeable in the event that another woman should approach them on how to successfully cope with harassment or other stressful situations.

Another potential benefit of the present study was providing women with the opportunity to participate in a study that may help to make other women's experiences of coping with sexual harassment more effective than what they had experienced. Participants may have felt a sense of pride about participating in a project that will provide information regarding what women found to be helpful or hindering when coping with sexual harassment. Finally, this study allowed participants the opportunity to voice what they found unhelpful in their attempt to cope with sexual harassment which may provide relief for participants who had not previously had the opportunity to do so.

This study was based on participants' real experiences as opposed to the hypothetical scenarios that have been used in much of the previous research. A benefit of the present study was that stories were told and heard in the participants' own words, which I hope was an empowering and positive experience for the women.

## Data Analysis

The fourth step in the Critical Incident Technique is data analysis. Similar to other qualitative research, analysis of data collected using the CIT method is a subjective process during which the researcher strives to tease out common themes using an inductive thought process. In the current study, the first step in the process of analysis was to assign each participant a numerical code, and transcribe verbatim all 15 interviews.

Category formation is a highly subjective process in which the researcher attempts to make a universal claim about the activity being studied using the specific critical incidents that have been collected (Flanagan, 1954; Woolsey, 1986). Raw data from the current study was divided into "incidents", defined as direct observations of actions taken by participants or actions taken by others that were either helpful or hindering in an attempt to cope with the experience of sexual harassment. In order for incidents to be included in data analysis, it was necessary for participants to categorize whether each incident had been helpful or hindering, and to describe to the researcher how each incident added to or took away from the experience of coping, which had to include at least one objective from the general aim. A total of 79 incidents were collected from the data; seven incidents were omitted from data analysis because they failed to add to or take away from the general aim of the activity being studied, leaving a total of 72 incidents to be included in the study. For example, one participant said "I basically just laughed it off and moved aside... to keep peace in the workplace" (09). In this case, the participant was able to identify the coping behaviour, but could not indicate how the behaviour added to or took away from the general aim of coping with sexual harassment.

Incidents were copied verbatim from participants' transcripts and placed separately on cards. Participant numbers and incident numbers were placed on each card which allowed the researcher to track incidents within their categories. Details from participants' critical incident data sheets were placed on incident cards when appropriate, and when necessary, I used the critical incident data sheet as a reference tool to provide contextual information for incidents.

Initially, all incidents were sorted into two major groups, "Actions of Participants", and "Actions of Others". This distinction assisted me with the organization of incidents and a place from which to begin more in depth analysis. Within these two major groups, incidents were further divided into groups of "helpful" and "hindering" incidents, which resulted in the formation of four major groups: "Actions of Participants, Helpful", "Actions of Participants, Hindering", "Actions of Others, Helpful", and "Actions of Others, Hindering".

Within each of the four major groups, incidents that appeared to thematically fit together were sorted into tentative categories. When this initial sorting was complete, the most representative incidents from each group were selected to act as a prototype for that group and assigned a color for identification purposes. A prototypical incident is the incident that best represents the category as opposed to one that only loosely fits the category. All other incidents were re-collected, individually compared with the various prototypes, and then re-sorted according to which prototypical incident they most resembled (Woolsey, 1986). Notes were kept by the researcher to track thoughts on the categorization process, and to document the formation of categories as a reference tool. Prototypical incidents remained consistent; however, all other incidents were collected and compared to the prototypes on

numerous occasions. Once I was certain that all incidents had been placed with the appropriate prototype, categories were further subdivided until I was satisfied that they accurately represented the data that was collected. Subcategories emerged when I felt that an overall theme was being represented by small groups of specific, yet different, incidents. In order to assist with the formation of subcategories, a prototypical incident was chosen for each subcategory, assigned a color for identification purposes, and the categorization process proceeded as outlined above. Incidents were not "forced" into categories but emerged from the data itself. I then wrote descriptions of categories in order to summarize the type of incidents each category represented, and included direct quotes from the prototypical incident for each category, which I felt would embody the overall message being represented in each description.

The final step of the Critical Incident Technique is reporting the findings. At this point, findings should be laid out in clear and precise categories to make interpretation of the data as simple as possible. Flanagan (1954) suggests that during this stage it is important to revisit the other four major steps in order to be aware of any biases that may be associated with the technique up until this point. As suggested by Woolsey (1986), category descriptions incorporated direct quotes from prototypical incidents as a means of accurately reporting the findings of a critical incident study. By using an incident that is most representative of the category, the readers will develop a distinct sense of the findings and a firm grasp of the characteristics of the category.

#### **Trustworthiness**

Butterfield et al. (2005) proposed nine trustworthiness checks to ensure reliability of data and proper execution of the critical incident technique, seven of which were implemented in the current study. Researchers at the University of British Columbia have proposed a check that involves conducting a second interview with participants once the data from the first interview has been analyzed and placed into tentative categories. The second interview allows the participant to affirm that the categories for the data make sense, and provides opportunities for participants to review their story and make sure it has been adequately recorded and to add and take away from it as they see fit. In the present study I altered this credibility check and transcribed all interviews verbatim and sent a copy of the interviews to each participant for revisions and suggestions in order to ensure that the participants felt their story was being accurately represented (Ellinger & Bostrom, 2002; Ellinger, Watkins & Bostrom, 1999). Thirteen of 15 participants reviewed their transcripts and provided the researcher written confirmation of accuracy. A second attempt was made to contact the remaining two participants regarding their transcripts, and when no response was received accuracy was assumed and the data was included in the research.

As a second reliability check, 25% of the total number of incidents were randomly chosen and placed by independent judges into the categories formed by the researcher. In the present study two graduate students acted as independent judges, both of whom had taken courses in qualitative methodology and were completing their own qualitative research. The higher the rate of agreement between the independent judges and the researcher, the more reliable the category is thought to be (Barbey, 2000; Borgen, Amundson, & Harder, 1988; Butterfield, 2006; Duplassie, Macknee, & Williams, 2008; Ellinger & Bostrom, 2002;

O'Driscoll & Cooper, 1996; Sherack, 2003). Existing literature suggests that an acceptable agreement rate between judges is 75% to 85% of incidents in major categories, and 60% to 70% of incidents in subcategories (Andersson & Nilsson, 1964). The researcher sat with each judge separately and provided an hour long training session which included a brief explanation of the categorization process, and finished with a minimum of four practice incidents which judges placed in the appropriate categories under the supervision of the researcher. Judges were then left with category descriptions for all four groups and 18 incidents to independently place in the appropriate category. Table 1 depicts the results of categorization of incidents by independent judges. The criterion for an acceptable rate of agreement between judges and the researcher was met for both major categories and subcategories.

Table 1

The Percentage of Agreement Between the Judges' and the Researchers' Category Schemes

	% of Agreement	
	Categories	Subcategories
Judge 1	100%	91.6%
Judge 2	100%	83.3%

*Note.* n = 36 incidents, 18 incidents per judge

Third, it is important that researchers track the point of saturation of the data, which occurs when no new categories emerge from the data and redundancy takes place. In critical incident studies, sample size is determined not by number of participants but by number of incidents (Woolsey, 1986). Andersson and Nilsson (1964) explain that saturation can be assumed when two thirds of the total number of incidents represent 95% of the total number

of categories and subcategories used in a study. In the current research, the categorization of 48 randomly selected incidents embodied 20 of 21 categories/subcategories, resulting in a 95.2 % saturation rate, which indicated that the saturation criteria was met.

Fourth, the present study calculated participation rates within categories by taking the number of participants who reported incidents in a particular category and then dividing it by the total number of participants, with a participation rate of at least 25 % for a category to be considered valid. Flanagan (1954) argued that the larger the number of participants who report the same incident, the more relevant the incident is to the general aim of the study. In the present study, participation rates were recorded; however, no categories were excluded. The sentiment is that by excluding categories the researcher risks the loss of valuable information; therefore, regardless of the calculated participation rate, all categories were maintained and reported (Andersson & Nilsson, 1964; Barbey, 2000; Bedi, Davis & Williams, 2005; Woolsey, 1986). Table 2 represents participation rates for *Actions of Participants, Helpful*, and as indicated, two of the five categories met the participation rate requirements.

Table 3 depicts participation rates for the group *Actions of Participants, Hindering*. As shown in the table below, two of the five categories met the participation rate requirements. Table 4 portrays participation rates for the group *Actions of Others, Helpful*. As indicated, two of three categories fulfilled participation rate requirements. Finally, Table 5 illustrates participation rates for the group *Actions of Others, Hindering*. Of the three categories in this group, none fulfilled participation rate requirements.

Table 2

Participation Rates: Actions of Participants, Helpful

Category	Number of Participants	Participation rate (%)
Discussing experience with a coworker	8	53%
2. Protecting younger coworkers	3	20%
3. Taking formal action	3	20%
4. Participant tells perpetrator to stop	3	20%
5. Participant removing self from situation.	6	40%

As a fifth check, Butterfield et al. (2005) suggest that researchers focus on theoretical validity. The reasoning behind this is that researchers be clear about the assumptions involved in their study and then examine them in comparison with the existing literature to see if they are supported (Barbey, 2000; Butterfield, 2006; Butterfield et al., 2005; Morley, 2003). In the present study, assumptions were compared with a review of the existing literature and findings have been carefully tracked and appear to be well supported by previous research (Chapter 5: Discussion).

As a sixth trustworthiness check, all interviews were audio-taped and transcribed verbatim from the tape in order to work directly from the transcript and be as precise as possible (Bormann et al., 2006; Ellinger et al., 1999; Ellinger & Bostrom, 2002).

The final trustworthiness check involved having an expert in the CIT method listen to a sample of interview tapes to make sure that the interviewer is correctly following the

method. In the present study my supervisor, Dr. Corinne Koehn, acted as the expert and reviewed every 4<sup>th</sup> interview from my collection of tapes in order to ensure that proper interview techniques were being employed (Bormann et al., 2006; Butterfield, 2006).

Active listening was also used to increase accuracy in the present study. As described by Woolsey (1986), active listening is used during interviews to ensure the interviewer is developing a comprehensive understanding of the incidents being reported and the message that the participant is trying to convey.

Table 3

Participation Rates: Actions of Participants, Hindering

Category	Number of Participants	Participation rate (%)
1. Minimizing harassment:	6	40.0%
a) Making light of harassment or minimizing severity	3	20.0%
b) Ignoring harassment	4	26.6%
2. Participant discusses harassment with perpetrator	6	40.0%
3. Use of drugs and alcohol	1	6.60%
4. Altering style of dress	1	6.60%
5. Avoiding perpetrator	2	13.0%

Table 4

Participation Rates: Actions of Others, Helpful

Category	Number of Participants	Participation rate (%)
Category	Tarticipants	1 articipation rate (70)
1. Support	12	80.0%
a) Providing assurance of future support	4	26.6%
b) Coworkers assure participant she is not doing something wrong	4	26.6%
c) Providing emotional support	7	46.6%
2. Protection	4	26.6%
a) Coworker protecting participant from perpetrator	3	20.0%
b) Taking action to stop harassment	2	13.0%
3. Problem solving	3	20.0%

Table 5

Participation Rates: Actions of Others, Hindering

Category	Number of Participants	Participation rates (%)
1. Judgmental responses	3	20.0%
a) Criticizing participant	2	13.0%
b) Blaming participant	1	6.60%
2. Information giving in the absence of support	1	6.60%
3. Not taking action	2	13.0%

## Chapter 4: Research Findings

This chapter will report on the research findings of the current study, and summarize findings from the critical incident data sheet. Category descriptions and direct quotes will be provided and findings will be presented in the context of how they relate to the main research question posed in this thesis: what is significantly helpful, and what is significantly hindering in women's experiences of coping with incidents of sexual harassment? Table 6 identifies the groups, major categories, and subcategories formed in the findings of the current study.

As indicated in findings from the critical incident data sheet, all perpetrators of sexual harassment were male, and 13 of 15 participants perceived the perpetrator of their harassment as being in a position of power and/or authority over them. Eighty percent of harassing incidents were reported as occurring in the target's place of work, and all participants chose to disclose their experiences of harassment to some type of support provider. Informal resources such as co-workers, friends, family members, and the target's boss, supervisor, or manager were among the most common support providers to whom participants chose to disclose. More formal resources such as counsellors, and Human Resource personnel were among the least common support providers to whom participants chose to disclose.

## Actions of Participants, Helpful

The first group consisted of 23 incidents that had been placed into five major categories. This group focused on all actions of participants that were significantly helpful in the experience of coping with sexual harassment.

### 1. Discussing Experience with a Coworker

This category consisted of incidents in which participants disclosed their experiences of sexual harassment with a female friend, coworker or family member. These incidents were considered significantly helpful because the participant reported that it helped them to feel that they were not alone in dealing with their situation, and because the opportunity to share their experience with someone else helped to take weight off their own shoulders. For example, one participant said:

I had also talked to other women about it and they were all like 'yeah he's done the same thing to me, he's a jerk, he's a pervert, he's all this...I didn't feel alone I guess, I felt supported that way (07).

One participant disclosed to a female coworker and reported that "just talking to her yeah, kind of like it helped me get it off my own shoulders" (15) while another spoke to other female students and said that "it just kind of reassured me that I wasn't the only one thinking that, you know?" (06).

# 2. Protecting Younger Coworkers

This category consisted of incidents in which participants came to the defense of a younger coworker to protect her from a situation in which she may potentially be sexually harassed. Participants described these incidents as significantly helpful to their coping because they felt they had gained their power back in the situation and took comfort in being able to prevent another coworker from potentially having the same negative experience with sexual harassment. One participant believed it was important to share her experience with younger coworkers and said "so then it just became open for the whole floor and wasn't just my own personal crisis and that just helped immensely and we were all just sort of on the lookout for each other" (04) and added,

Table 6

Groups, Categories, and Subcategories

Groups, Categories, and Subcategories	Number of Participants	Number of Incidents
Actions of Participant, Helpful		23
1. Discussing experience with a coworker	8	8
2. Protecting younger coworkers	3	3
3. Taking formal action	3	3
4. Participant tells perpetrator to stop	3	3
5. Participant removing self from situation	6	6
Actions of Participant, Hindering		17
1. Minimizing Harassment:	6	
<ul> <li>a) Making light of harassment or minimizing severity</li> </ul>	3	3
b) Ignoring harassment	4	4
2. Participant discusses harassment with perpetrator	6	6
3. Use of drugs and alcohol	1	1
4. Altering style of dress	1	1
5. Avoiding perpetrator	2	2
Actions of Others, Helpful		23
1. Support:	12	
a) Providing assurance of future support	4	4
b) Coworkers assure participant she is not doing something wrong	4	4
c) Providing emotional support	7	7
2. Protection:	4	
<ul> <li>a) Coworker protecting participant from perpetrator</li> </ul>	3	3
b) Taking action to stop harassment	2	2
3. Problem solving	2 3	3
Actions of Others, Hindering		9
1. Judgmental responses:	3	
a) Criticizing participant	2	3
b) Blaming participant	1	1
2. Information giving in the absence of support	1	1
3. Not taking action	2	4

Note. Participants provided more than one incident each.

Knowledge is power, and to empower the younger nurses, that 'oh watch out for this kind of thing', or, if he was trying to get them alone you'd make sure he didn't, because you didn't want them to have the same experience (04).

Another participant confronted the perpetrator of her harassment on behalf of a younger coworker who was also being harassed and said about the experience:

He laid off her right away too because I cornered him and I felt, I felt like this huge amount of power so I was like 'what are you doing?'... I had this strength from all the other women in the workplace as well because when they found out he was doing this to her because she was just a young one right, so then all of a sudden it was like well he can't do that, so we're all coming against him for her (07).

## 3. Taking Formal Action

This category consisted of incidents in which participants took formal action against the perpetrator of the harassment or the establishment in which the harassment took place. Participants described these incidents as significantly helpful in coping with their experience of sexual harassment because there was some form of justice against the perpetrator of the harassment, and because it validated that what they had gone through was unacceptable. Participants described feeling empowered by this action and therefore able to feel they had obtained closure in the situation and were comfortable moving on. One participant chose to file a complaint against the institution and said:

It [sexual harassment] doesn't have to be part of the job, and as long as you have those rights and that power that you know, you have, you can deal with it, and you can move on. So yeah, it definitely empowered me, as an individual anyway (01).

The same participant also said that the act of filing a formal complaint "gives you that level of validation that you're like okay, what I did was the right thing, because now it's in his face that there are consequences" (01). Along these same lines, another participant chose to bring legal action against the perpetrator for sexual touching, and explained that it was:

Something that has helped me move on and I have had some more closure from that. I think it just, it kind of empowered me more to know that I could do that, I had the right to do that, that I wasn't at fault, that it wasn't appropriate, I didn't feel so vulnerable (11).

The final participant in this category chose to report the perpetrator's behaviour to her boss and reported that it was helpful to her because "I knew he didn't get away with it kinda thing. It was comforting to me knowing that he would actually be talked to about it and not just continue doing it to other people" (14).

## 4. Participant Tells Perpetrator to Stop

This category consisted of incidents in which participants definitively told the perpetrator to stop the harassing behaviour. Participants described these incidents as significantly helpful to their coping because their actions helped to stop the harassment, and helped the participant feel strong in being able to handle the situation themselves. It is important to note that incidents in this category do not focus on the fact that the participant confronted the perpetrator about his behaviour, but rather, the language that was used by the participant while doing so. All participants in this category directly and assertively instructed the perpetrator to desist the harassing behaviour. For example, one participant responded to a perpetrator by saying "get away from me, I don't need your help...get away from me, this is totally ridiculous" (08) while another reported that "once, I told him not to touch me" (03). The third participant in this category chose to handle her situation more aggressively and told the perpetrator "I'm so sick of you doing this...this is bullshit, you know, you keep doing this and it's really inappropriate and if you're not careful I will slap a sexual harassment suit on you" (01).

## 5. Participant Removes Self from Situation

This category consisted of incidents in which participants removed themselves physically from the environment in which the harassment was taking place, which meant that there was no longer potential for contact with the perpetrator of the harassment. Participants described these incidents as significantly helpful because once out of the situation the harassment immediately stopped, and there was a sense of relief over no longer having to "deal with" the perpetrator(s). For example, one participant walked away from the perpetrator and returned to the place where she was staying and reported that it was helpful because "it removed me from the place, and it removed me from where he asked me, and it removed me from him" (12). Another participant in this category quit her job and went home as a means of coping with the harassment, and disclosed that "it made me feel much safer never having to see him [the perpetrator] again" (14).

# Actions of Participant, Hindering

The second group consisted of 17 incidents divided into five categories and two subcategories, and all incidents in this group were actions of the participant described as significantly hindering to experiences of coping with sexual harassment. The first category "Minimizing harassment" was divided into two subcategories: *a) Making light of harassment or minimizing severity*, and *b) Ignoring harassment*.

## 1. Minimizing Harassment

a) Making light of harassment or minimizing severity. This subcategory consisted of incidents in which participants "normalized" or laughed off the harassment in order to avoid conflict, or questioned whether or not their experiences were severe enough to disclose to anyone. These incidents were described as significantly hindering because the harassment

continued, and because participants felt discouraged from seeking further support. One participant described her experience as being the only female in a vehicle full of men: "I was like kind of going along with it and kind of like laughing because I was really nervous and uncomfortable" (13). Another participant described discomfort after confiding in a counsellor because "I felt it wasn't severe enough to be talking to anybody about" (02).

b) Ignoring harassment. This subcategory consists of incidents in which participants ignored the harassment they were experiencing. These incidents were described as significantly hindering because the harassment continued, because participants did not feel they had control over the situation, and that by ignoring the harassment they were unable to deal with the situation and move forward. One participant explained "I think I ignored it to cope. Because I didn't understand what was happening, so by ignoring it I didn't even need to think about it" (05). Another said "when it first started I just thought that ignoring it would make it go away and obviously that didn't work out very well and it just escalated from there" (11).

#### 2. Participant Discusses Harassment with Perpetrator

This category consisted of incidents in which participants attempted to discuss the harassment with the perpetrator, and/or asked the perpetrator to stop the harassing behaviour in an indirect or unassertive manner. These incidents were described as significantly hindering because they did not stop the harassment, and in some cases were perceived as contributing to the escalation of the harassment. The participant who had the prototypical example of this said: "I tried to ask him, like what's this about? And in my nervous, naïve way it wasn't coming across properly, he almost, he liked that more probably…he would take

it as a level of interest" (04). This same sentiment is echoed by another participant, who explained,

I said to him "what are you—why are you always following me like what the hell? Why... you don't need to be following me why are you doing this? And he said "Oh I want to get in your pants" and I was like, oh, okay and I didn't... I said well, that's not going to happen and he's like yeah well I've got to try anyway... and I said something smartass back to him, and it was almost like he took it as encouraging him (07).

# 3. Use of Drugs and Alcohol

The third category consisted of an incident in which the participant used drugs and alcohol to cope with her feelings. This incident was described as significantly hindering because the participant was unable to effectively process her experience. The participant described her experience of turning to alcohol as hindering her ability to gain understanding of and to move on from her experience of sexual harassment, and said:

It [alcohol] definitely kept me away from being able to do those things because I didn't want to do those things, I didn't want to deal with them, I didn't want them to be part of me, I didn't want to acknowledge them after... yeah I didn't want to acknowledge them so alcohol kept me from all those things for sure because I didn't have to think I just had to be, I didn't have to think about these gross horrible things that they would say or do I didn't have to think at all I could just disappear into it, so it didn't help me cope it helped me escape (10).

## 4. Altering Style of Dress

The fourth category consisted of an incident in which a participant changed her style of dress in order to discourage the perpetrator from making comments about her body. This incident was perceived by the participant as significantly hindering because the harassment continued. The participant in this category chose to wear bigger clothing in an attempt to conceal her figure, and said:

It just progressed really gradually and I think where I got the point where I really started feeling uncomfortable that's when I changed the way I looked, like the dressing like not wearing skirts and making sure I wore baggy jeans and looking like the guys I guess you could say. Wearing an ugly shirt (03).

## 5. Avoiding Perpetrator

The final category consisted of incidents in which participants chose to avoid the perpetrator of their sexual harassment; however, the potential for contact with the perpetrator was always present and could not be avoided. These incidents were considered significantly hindering because the harassment continued, and because it affected the participants' ability to be effective at school and at work. One participant said "I hated gym class, and it just like, it made me feel like really—I just didn't want to go to class so obviously that leads to skipping class" (06). Another participant explained:

It hindered my job I think. Because I'd always try and avoid him and so if he was in the shipping area I wouldn't go out there until he was gone like if I had to ship something out, because he would stand by me and make comments (03).

## Actions of Others, Helpful

The third group consisted of 23 incidents divided into three major categories and five subcategories. Incidents in this group focused on actions of others that were significantly helpful to participants' experiences of coping with sexual harassment.

## 1. Support

The first major category was titled "Support" and was comprised of three subcategories: a) Providing assurance of future support, b) Coworkers assure participant she is not doing something wrong, and c) Providing emotional support.

a) Providing assurance of future support. This subcategory consisted of incidents in which the manager and/or supervisor assured participants that they would provide them with

further support if needed. These incidents were described as significantly helpful because managers encouraged participants to come back and speak with them if the harassing behaviour continued. Participants described this reaction from the managers as supportive and reassuring. One participant explained that when she disclosed the harassment to her boss an offer was made to discipline the perpetrator and she said that this experience "validated the fact that yeah it's wrong, the fact that the supervisor was willing to help me with it" (14). In a similar incident, another participant said,

When I told the managers, while they kind of brushed it off and said whatever, it happens, at the same time they said if it happens again come talk to us and we'll talk to him. Well then I felt supported. Then I felt like okay, at least I have that support and if it happens again I can go talk to them about it (07).

b) Coworkers assure participants they were not doing something wrong. This subcategory consisted of incidents in which coworkers to whom participants had disclosed assured them that they had had similar experiences with the perpetrator and that the participants were not doing something to "cause" the harassment. These incidents were described as significantly helpful because they helped to alleviate participants' guilt over the situation, which allowed them to realize that they were not the only person who had ever been through this type of experience. One participant described a situation in which a coworker told her she was not alone in her experiences, and assured her that other female employees had been in similar situations with the perpetrator. When describing this incident, the participant said: "I definitely felt validation and acceptance of it, that there's nothing wrong, that there's nothing I've done incorrectly" (04). Another participant explained:

I had also talked to other women about it and they were all like... yeah he's done the same thing to me, yeah that's the way he is, he's a jerk, he's a pervert, he's all this and that so then there was this, there was this huge kind of all these women banding together and um saying yeah he's done that... You

know whatever so just having those women behind you to support you was huge in, in kind of coping with it. And knowing that it wasn't just me, he was just a big pervert (07).

c) Providing emotional support. This final subcategory consisted of incidents in which the individuals to whom the participant disclosed provided emotional support. These incidents were described as significantly helpful because participants felt comforted by the fact that other people understood what they were going through, that her feelings were valid and accepted, and that they were supported in the way they chose to handle the situation.

One participant received empathy and understanding from her friends regarding her situation, and described this experience as helpful because "you can talk about it with the person, just that you weren't the only one in the situation- that you weren't alone" (15). Another participant disclosed that her manager had contacted her at home to offer support after an incident at the workplace. The participant said:

The manager had called me at home and said 'you know I had heard that this had happened to you today and I am wondering how you're dealing with it' and so they really just let me tell the story from my side and whatever I was feeling and thinking and they were letting me know that... it wasn't my fault and things could get better and they would and that it would be alright (11).

#### 2. Protection

The second major category in this group was divided into two subcategories. This category was comprised of incidents in which individuals to whom participants disclosed took action or made suggestions to protect participants from perpetrators of the harassment.

a) Coworkers protecting participant from perpetrator. This subcategory consisted of incidents in which coworkers protected participants and did not allow them to be in situations where they were alone with the perpetrator of the sexual harassment. These incidents were described as significantly helpful because they helped stop the harassment, and helped the

participant to feel safe. One participant described an ideal prototypical incident for this category:

If I went outside somebody noticed, one of the women noticed that he was following me—because I said he followed me all over the yard, they would either they would come out or they would send one of the guys out [to] 'go find (Participant's name) and get her to do this' so there was always an extra set of eyes and we would do that for each other (07).

b) Taking action to stop harassment. This subcategory consisted of incidents in which the individual to whom the participant reported took action on behalf of the participant to stop the sexual harassment. These incidents were described as significantly helpful because the harassment ended and the participant felt validated. In a prototypical incident for this category the participant's boss spoke to the perpetrator of the harassment in order to convey that the harassing behaviour was inappropriate. The participant said this incident "was helpful in that it stopped the actual harassment" (13). Another participant describes an incident in which HR personnel spoke to the perpetrator regarding his inappropriate behaviour; she says about the experience, "there was that support there for me, and I felt... I felt vindicated after that one, for sure (07).

## 3. Practical Suggestions

This category consisted of incidents in which an individual gave participants practical advice or suggestions on how to handle the situation. These incidents were described as significantly helpful because they helped participants to stop the harassment and helped participants to clarify the situation in their minds. In a prototypical incident for this subcategory, the participant, who was married, was advised by her coworker to wear her wedding band to work. The participant explains: "she said 'you don't have a ring on, wear a ring', she said that might help. So I did, I went and bought a plain gold band' (04). In this

situation, the participant described this advice as significantly helpful to her experiences of coping with sexual harassment because "he stopped coming around quite so much which was good ok, this is over, type of thing and then you could get on with, with your life" (04).

## Actions of Others, Hindering

The fourth group consisted of nine incidents which make up three major categories and two subcategories. Incidents in this group focused on actions of others that were significantly hindering to participants' experiences of coping with sexual harassment.

## 1. Judgmental Responses

This major category was broken into two subcategories: *a) Criticizing participant* and *b) Blaming participant*. This category was comprised of hindering incidents in which individuals to whom participants disclosed were judgmental of the participants' situation.

a) Criticizing participant. This subcategory consisted of incidents in which individuals to whom participants' disclosed criticized them for the way they chose to handle their experiences of being sexually harassed. These incidents were described as significantly hindering because they interfered with the participant feeling supported. In a prototypical incident for this subcategory, the participant explained "my sister kind of in some ways she sort of made me feel bad about what happened because she thought I should go to the people I work with and tell them" (08). Another participant said,

They [friends and family] always tell me you have to do something I can't believe you just let them do that to you. My friends get mad at me like, I thought you were stronger than that... so it definitely doesn't help me when I tell people because I almost feel like my friends and my mom judge me negatively because I didn't do anything (10).

b) Blaming participant. This subcategory consisted of an incident in which a superior at the workplace told the participant to "stop socializing" with the perpetrator. This incident

was described as significantly hindering because the participant felt blamed for being in the situation. The participant explained that the supervisor, with the good intentions of trying to interrupt the potentially harassing situation, approached her and accused her of socializing with the perpetrator as a means of interrupting the potentially harassing situation. However, the supervisor's actions were misinterpreted by the participant, who felt blamed and explained her reaction to this situation as: "Oh, horrible, just thinking about it, it bothered me for days... I think I took some time off I there, I think I took a long weekend off, just to destress a little bit" (04).

## 2. Information Giving in the Absence of Support

The incident in this category was one in which a counsellor failed to provide emotional support and instead simply informed the participant of steps to take if she would like to take legal action against the perpetrator. This incident was described as significantly hindering because it took away from her attempt to seek emotional support and because she felt overwhelmed by the information given. The participant said:

She didn't address my feelings over it, she just addressed that yes this happens, you can and then she gave me the options of what I could do to further it, you know like maybe I should start writing it down so I could take him to court and stuff and that was too overwhelming for me because I just wanted to talk to someone about it (02).

## 3. Not Taking Action

The final major category in this group consisted of incidents in which a superior at work failed to take action to assist participants with their experience of sexual harassment.

These incidents were described as significantly hindering because management did not acknowledge that the perpetrator's behaviour was a problem, and took no action on behalf of the participant to stop the behaviour from happening. In a prototypical example one

participant explained: "I talked to my boss about it and he was like 'oh that's just the way [perpetrator's name] is he's just—that's just the way he is" (07). This participant described feeling frustrated by this response, and confused as to why management was not protecting their female employees from perpetrators of sexual harassment.

# Summary

A total of 72 incidents were divided into four major groups: Actions of Participant,

Helpful; Actions of Participant, Hindering; Actions of Others, Helpful; and Actions of Others,

Hindering. These four groups were further divided into 15 major categories and 9

subcategories.

Emotional support was reported as significantly helpful regardless of the individual who was providing it and participants reported that these incidents helped them to feel comforted, understood and validated. Social support was also significantly helpful in coping, and took many forms. Women reported disclosing to coworkers, peers, friends, or family members; protecting younger coworkers; and banding together with other women. Also described as significantly helpful were incidents which helped to stop the harassment, such as: directly asking the perpetrator to stop the unwanted behaviour, practical suggestions, taking formal action, and choosing to be physically removed from the harassing situation to ensure there was no longer potential for contact with the perpetrator. Actions of others on behalf of the participant to stop the harassment were also found to be significantly helpful.

Hindering incidents were ones in which the harassment did not stop or were perceived to get worse, or incidents in which the participant did not feel emotionally supported and even blamed for being in the situation. These incidents included use of drugs and/or alcohol, discussing the harassment with the perpetrator, being accused of "socializing"

with the perpetrator, avoiding the perpetrator, minimizing or making light of the harassment, ignoring the harassment, and altering style of dress. Actions of others who failed to act on complaints of sexual harassment, who criticized the way the participant chose to handle the situation, and who blamed the participant for the situation were also reported as significantly hindering to experiences of coping.

## Chapter 5: Discussion

This chapter will discuss interpretations and implications of findings from the present study. Links between my research and the work of others will be explored, limitations of the research will be acknowledged, and implications for counselling practice, employers, and future research will be discussed.

The purpose of this study was to use a qualitative method of data collection to examine women's perceptions of what was helpful and what was hindering in their experiences of coping with incidents of sexual harassment. There has been a great deal of research done categorizing behavioural reactions and coping styles of women who have experienced sexual harassment (Bingham & Scherer, 1993; Fitzgerald et al., 1988; Lazarus and Folkman, 1984; Magley, 2002). This study expanded on existing literature by exploring actions of participants and actions of others and describing how these actions added to or took away from experiences of coping with sexual harassment.

### **Emotion Focused Coping**

## Social Support

As found in previous research, social support plays an important role in victims' experiences of coping with stressful life events (Frazier & Burnett, 1994; Green & Pomeroy, 2007; Kocot & Goodman, 2003; Wethington & Kessler, 1986). It is common for women who are harassed to disclose their experiences to close friends and family members (Ahrens et al., 2007; Cortina, 2004; Cox, 2005). Similar to previous research, the current study found that the majority of participants chose to disclose their experiences of sexual harassment to female co-workers, female friends and/or family members, and romantic partners. To expand on existing literature, the present study found that it is not simply the act of

disclosing to social supports that is the helpful or hindering factor in coping with sexual harassment; rather, it is the response of the individual that the participant disclosed to that helps or hinders coping. Participants described it as most helpful when social supports reassured them that they were not doing something wrong or "causing" the harassment, and when social supports provided emotional support. These responses from social supports were categorized by participants as significantly helpful to their experiences of coping with sexual harassment because they felt supported, reassured, and validated. These responses were also described as helpful because they provided participants with the feeling that the individuals to whom they disclosed had a sense of understanding for what they were going through.

Information and practical suggestions from social supports were also described as significantly helpful to experiences of coping. However, it is important to note that participants described practical suggestions as significantly helpful only when they were accompanied by emotional support. In fact, situations where social supports provided the participant with information but failed to offer emotional support were described as significantly hindering to experiences of coping with sexual harassment. Similar to existing research, participants in the current study also described it as significantly hindering when social supports would criticize how they chose to handle their experiences of sexual harassment, or when social supports blamed them for being in the situation (Dakof & Taylor, 1990). Therefore, to expand on existing literature, it seems that it is important for social supports to provide targets of sexual harassment with emotional support, assurance that they are not to blame for the situation, and assurance that they will continue to be supported in the

future if necessary. It also appears that practical advice is appropriate and appreciated when paired with emotional support.

Women often choose to "band together" with other women as a means of coping with sexual harassment (Handy, 2006; Salisbury et al., 1986; Sigal et al., 2003; Slotten, 2002). Consistent with the existing literature, participants in the present study reported that protecting younger coworkers, receiving protection from coworkers, and discussing their harassment with coworkers or peers were all significantly helpful in coping with experiences of sexual harassment. Protection of the participant by others and protection of younger coworkers by the participant took the form of sharing information, coming to the defense of a younger coworker, and offering physical presence. These incidents were reported as helpful to coping because participants felt empowered, safe, and comforted in knowing that they were able to potentially prevent other women from having similar negative experiences. Participants also reported that reaching out to other women helped them to feel that they were not alone in dealing with the situation, and that some of the weight had been taken off of their shoulders.

#### Avoidance

Avoidance is another common coping strategy among targets of sexual harassment (Bingham & Scherer, 1993; Cortina & Wasti, 2005; Handy, 2006; Malamut & Offermann, 2001). Findings from the current investigation found that the majority of women chose to avoid the perpetrator of their harassment or to remove themselves from the situation in which the harassment was taking place. Findings indicated that it is not the act of avoidance that is helpful or hindering to experiences of coping, but the potential for contact with the perpetrator. Incidents in which participants avoided the perpetrator but the potential for

contact was still present were described as hindering, while incidents in which participants were able to completely remove themselves from the harassing environment were described as helpful. This suggests that avoidance of the perpetrator is significantly helpful to experiences of coping with sexual harassment when the potential for ongoing contact with the perpetrator is eliminated.

Avoidance can also consist of cognitive strategies such as denial that the harassment ever happened, and refusal to acknowledge or discuss the incident (Cortina & Wasti, 2005). In the present study, some participants chose to ignore the harassment as a means of coping with their experience of sexual harassment, and in retrospect described this strategy as hindering to their attempts to cope because they were not able to deal with the situation and move on with their lives.

#### Minimizing

Minimizing or making light of their experiences was also a coping strategy employed by participants of the current study. Research on female targets' responses to sexual harassment has shown that minimizing the impact of the incident is a common strategy that women employ in order to cope (Salisbury et al., 1986; Slotten, 2002; Wear et al., 2007). Studies have found that women will "make light" of the situation, shrugging it off as unimportant or even as acceptable, despite the fact that their behaviours may show otherwise. Participants reported engaging in such conduct as "laughing off" inappropriate behaviour in order to avoid conflict, or questioning whether or not their experiences were severe enough to disclose to someone. These incidents were described as significantly hindering to experiences of coping because the harassment continued and participants felt hesitant to seek further support.

#### Substance Use

The existing literature describes substance use as an emotion focused coping strategy employed by targets of sexual harassment as a means of "taking their minds off the situation" (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). One study of middle and high school girls states that "the use of alcohol or drugs by bullied or harassed girls suggests that they use these substances as a coping mechanism for upsetting events in the same way that adults do" (Gruber & Fineran, 2007, p. 640). Surprisingly, only one participant in the current investigation reported turning to drugs and alcohol as a means of coping with her experience with sexual harassment. While it is possible that other participants may have also used this coping strategy but failed to report it for reasons of social desirability, I suspect that this number would have been higher had a greater number of participants from a more diverse population been interviewed.

#### **Problem Focused Coping**

#### Confrontation

There was not a great deal of research found on targets of sexual harassment choosing to confront the perpetrator as a means of coping with their harassment. However, research does explain that women are more likely to confront the perpetrator when harassment is frequent or ongoing (Stockdale, 1998). In the present study a number of women chose to confront the perpetrators of their harassment, and it is important to note that it does not seem to be the act of confronting itself that is either helpful or hindering in attempts to cope with sexual harassment. Instead, it appeared to be the manner in which the target chose to confront, and what she chose to say to the perpetrator. In other words, incidents in which the participant was direct and assertive in telling the perpetrator to stop the inappropriate behaviour were described as significantly helpful in coping with harassment. On the other

hand, incidents in which the participant attempted to discuss the motives of the perpetrator or indirectly asked the perpetrator to stop were described as significantly hindering. This suggests that it is most effective when targets of sexual harassment address the specific unwanted behaviours of harassment perpetrators and take a direct approach in telling the perpetrator to desist.

#### Formal Complaints

Consistent with existing literature, findings from the present study indicated that women were less likely to choose to file formal complaints as a strategy for coping with sexual harassment than use other strategies of coping. Studies have even shown that when targets of sexual harassment do employ more assertive coping strategies such as filing a formal complaint, they report increased dissatisfaction with their place of work and/or the procedures involved in making the complaint (Stockdale, 1998; Vijayasiri, 2008). Results from this study are contradictory yet meaningful, because although few women chose to make a formal complaint, all women who did so also reported these incidents as significantly helpful to their experiences of coping. These incidents were significantly helpful in coping with experiences of sexual harassment because there was some form of justice against the perpetrators of the harassment, and because it validated that what participants had gone through was unacceptable. Participants described feeling empowered by the act of filing a complaint and therefore felt they had obtained closure in the situation and were comfortable moving on.

#### Implications for Counselling Practice

This study has shed light on a number of potential implications for counselling practice. Emotional support was reported as significantly helpful in all incidents of coping with sexual harassment where it was received, regardless of the role of the individual who provided it. This would suggest that when dealing with female targets of sexual harassment, it is important for practitioners to use empathy in order to convey an understanding of what the individual is experiencing. Along these same lines, it appears important for practitioners to assure the client that she is not to blame for her situation, and to validate her experiences and the way she chose to handle the situation. Furthermore, once a foundational rapport has been developed, practical suggestions and advice regarding complaint processes and legal options could be helpful. Filing formal complaints were found to be uncommon yet significantly helpful in coping with sexual harassment. It is also possible that if a trusting relationship exists between client and practitioner, it could be helpful for the practitioner to provide a safe environment in which the client could explore both the benefits and pitfalls of filing a formal complaint as a means of coping with her experience of harassment.

Findings from the current study demonstrated that one of the most common coping strategies employed by women when coping with sexual harassment was reaching out for support from other women. Participants reported that the opportunity to share knowledge, exchange stories, and provide and receive support from other women were valuable incidents in experiences of coping with sexual harassment. These findings provide further support for previous research which proposes that group therapy would be a helpful intervention for female targets of sexual harassment by providing a medium for sharing of knowledge the solidarity of common experiences (Salisbury et al., 1986). These findings also suggest that

practitioners should assist clients in identifying individuals outside of the therapeutic setting who they can trust and rely on for support.

The present study revealed that confronting the perpetrator of the sexual harassment can be significantly helpful to women's experiences of coping when concerns are expressed a certain way. Specifically, confrontational incidents were described as most helpful when the participant directly told the perpetrator to stop or used assertive language. These findings suggest that it may be helpful for practitioners to role-play scenarios with clients and to coach them in the use of assertive language as a means of coping with perpetrators of harassment.

#### Implications for Employers

It is interesting to note that of the 15 participants interviewed for this study, none reported incidents in which they had meaningful, helpful conversations with perpetrators regarding their behaviour. Based on participants' perceptions of what was helpful and what was hindering, I suspect it would be important for employers to host training seminars to educate all employees on the dynamics of sexual harassment, the effects it has on targets, and the types of behaviours that are acceptable and unacceptable in the workplace. This training would be a proactive measure in the creation of a safe workplace, and should also contain information regarding how an individual should respond when accused of sexual harassment, which would include encouraging the accused to portray an understanding of the situation and to validate the feelings of the individual making the accusation. However, I believe it would be important for employers to portray that the most desirable end result would be for the accused to stop the inappropriate and unwanted behaviour.

Another question posed by findings of the current study was how managers should respond to complaints of sexual harassment. Research by Kane-Urrabazo (2007) found that reactions of employers to complaints of sexual harassment can be equally as important to targets as preventative factors. Participants in the present study reported that it was most helpful when managers or supervisors responded to complaints of sexual harassment with reassurance that they would continue to support them in the future if needed, and when managers took action to end the harassment. It is interesting to note that not all managers who took action to stop the harassment also provided the participant with emotional support. Despite findings which indicate that in the majority of situations targets of sexual harassment find emotional support significantly helpful to their experiences of coping, these findings also suggest that actions taken by others to stop the unwanted behaviour can be valuable as well.

#### Limitations

There are several limitations in the current study that need to be addressed. Despite the 15 interviews that were conducted, not all categories met the criteria for the 25% participation rate. I believe that had more participant interviews been conducted similar results would have been generated, and that the majority of categories and subcategories would have met the participation rate. However, all categories and subcategories were included as results of the research, as I believe that each is valuable and contains pertinent information.

It is also important to note that the majority of participants from my sample were recruited through advertisement at the local university. For this reason it can be assumed that participants were coming from a specific, narrow population and had certain characteristics

in common. Perhaps this limited the range of incidents being reported; I suspect that if a more diverse population had been interviewed a broader range of incidents may have been generated. For example, the majority of participants interviewed found disclosing their experiences of sexual harassment significantly helpful to their experiences of coping. It is possible that these findings could be due to the fact that the university population is accustomed to verbal processing, sharing experiences with others, and receiving meaningful feedback. Only one participant reported turning to drugs and alcohol as a means of coping with her experiences. However, had there been more participants from the surrounding community, it is possible that a greater number of participants would have reported incidents of drug and/or alcohol use as a coping strategy.

The Critical Incident Technique relies on individuals to provide details on first hand observations of behaviour. This is important because it allows a platform for women's perspectives to be acknowledged and for the documentation of helpful and hindering coping strategies in the context of responses to real-life situations. However, there is the possibility that participants were hesitant or less likely to report certain coping strategies (e.g., use of drugs and/or alcohol) as a means of appearing socially acceptable to the researcher.

Finally, in the present study, only three participants identified themselves as being of an ethnic origin other than Caucasian which may also have limited the range of incidents being reported.

#### Future Research

Results from the current study revealed a range of helpful and hindering incidents used by women as a means of coping with sexual harassment. Future researchers may conduct a larger study with the addition of more participant interviews and the collection of a

greater number of incidents to meet participation guidelines as set out by Butterfield and colleagues (2005). Further research might also select one coping strategy and use the critical incident technique to complete a more in-depth investigation. As previously discussed, existing sexual harassment research states that taking formal actions against the perpetrator is a rare coping strategy employed by female targets. Furthermore, research indicates that women who do choose to take formal action report being dissatisfied with the process and with their employment setting in general. Contrary to previous research, the current study found that all women who chose to take formal action against the perpetrators of their harassment reported it as significantly helpful to their experiences of coping. To expand on results from this study, future research may examine women's experiences of taking formal action against perpetrators of sexual harassment.

Previous research has found that harassing behaviours and their categorization is consistent cross culturally (Gelfand et. al., 1995; Hibino, Ogino, & Inagaki, 2006), but there is a dearth in the literature regarding the coping styles of targets of sexual harassment across cultures. To address questions of cultural diversity it may be worthwhile for future studies to explore helpful and hindering incidents in coping with sexual harassment among women from a variety of cultural backgrounds.

To expand on the current study as well as existing literature, future studies may conduct interviews to examine men's perceptions of helpful and hindering incidents in coping with sexual harassment.

#### Conclusion

The current study expanded on previous sexual harassment research by identifying helpful and hindering experiences of coping with sexual harassment, and describing how

these incidents added to or took away from coping. This study has contributed to the field by examining sexual harassment in a naturalistic setting, and expanding beyond categorizations of coping behaviours to detailed accounts of which behaviours are helpful and which are hindering, and why. Participants were provided with the opportunity to share what was perhaps a previously unheard story, or at the very least given the opportunity to disclose to an active listener. As the researcher, it is my hope that these findings will provide a basis of reflection for practitioners, employers, and formal and informal support providers regarding how to effectively receive complaints of sexual harassment. I also hope that findings from the present study will inspire thought in readers, and that the issue of coping with sexual harassment will be translated into a more global context. As the researcher, I am left with a number of questions. In Chapter One, I asked whether or not responses to sexual harassment met the needs of targets, and I expressed regret over not having asked my friend what she needed to help her cope with her experience. Findings from the current study answered this question by neatly categorizing helpful and hindering incidents of coping. However, I do wonder why these findings did not address the gender issues that accompany sexual harassment, and why participants did not specifically discuss their experiences as female targets of harassment. Reflecting upon the stories shared by participants of my research, I echo the sentiment of one participant who asked, why are women not being protected more? It is interesting to consider the findings of the present study as symptoms of a larger societal issue. Does gender matter? Is being a woman helpful or hindering when coping with experiences of sexual harassment? This study categorized helpful and hindering incidents in coping with harassment, and addressed how incidents added to or took away from participants' experiences. However, findings did not reveal the reasons behind why women

chose various coping strategies over others, and did not tie experiences of coping in isolated situations to coping with the issue of harassment in a broader context. I believe that before we can truly understand what is helpful and what is hindering in coping with sexual harassment, we must first understand the motivations behind using different coping strategies, and the various gendered, cultural, and societal influences that drive them.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Ahrens, C.E., Campbell, R., Thames-Ternier, K.N., Wasco, S.M., & Sefl, T. (2007). Deciding whom to tell: Expectations and outcomes of rape survivors' first disclosures. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 31(1), 38-49.
- Amundson, N.E., Borgen, W.A., Jordan, S., & Erlebach, A.C. (2004). Survivors of downsizing: Helpful and hindering experiences. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 52(3), 256-271.
- Andersson, B., & Nilsson, S. (1964). Studies in the reliability and validity of the Critical Incident Technique. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 48(6), 398-403.
- Barbey, D. (2000). *The facilitation and hindrance of personal adaptation to corporate restructuring*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia, Canada.
- Bedi, R., Davis, M., & Williams, M. (2005). Critical incidents in the formation of the therapeutic alliance from the client's perspective. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 42*(3), 311-323.
- Berdahl, J.L. (2007). The sexual harassment of uppity women. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(2), 425-437.
- Bergman, M.E., & Henning, J.B. (2008). Sex and ethnicity as moderators in the sexual harassment phenomenon: A revision and test of Fitzgerald et al. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 13(2), 152-167.
- Bingham, S.G., & Scherer, L.L. (1993). Factors associated with responses to sexual harassment and satisfaction with outcome. Sex Roles, 29(3/4), 239-269.
- Borgen, W.A., Amundson, N.E., & Harder, H.G. (1988). The experience of underemployment. *Journal of Employment Counselling*, 25(4), 149-159.
- Bormann, J.E., Oman, D., Kemppainen, J.K., Becker, S., Gershwin, M., & Kelly, A. (2006). Mantram repetition for stress management in veterans and employees: A critical incident study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 53(5), 502-512.
- Bowling, N.A., & Beehr, T.A. (2006). Workplace harassment from the victim's perspective: A theoretical model and meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(5), 998-1012.
- Butterfield, L.D. (2006). Helping workers meet the challenges of ongoing change: What strategies help and hinder? Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University Of British Columbia, Canada.

- Butterfield, L.D., & Borgen, W.A. (2005). Outplacement counselling from the client's perspective. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 53(4), 306-316.
- Butterfield, L.D., Borgen, W.A., Amundson, N.E., & Maglio, A.S. (2005). Fifty years of the critical incident technique: 1954-2004 and beyond. *Qualitative Research*, 5(4), 475-497.
- Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women. (1993). CACSW fact sheet: Sexual harassment. Ottawa: Ontario. Retrieved from: http://www.rapereliefshelter.bc.ca/faq/CACSWFactSheet.pdf
- Canadian Human Rights Commission. (1983). Unwanted sexual attention and sexual harassment: Results of a survey of Canadians. *Canadian Human Rights Commission and Special Studies Branch*. Retrieved September 2007 from <a href="http://www.chrc-ccdp.ca/default-en.asp">http://www.chrc-ccdp.ca/default-en.asp</a>.
- Chamberlain, L.J., Crowley, M., Tope, D., & Hodson, R. (2008). Sexual harassment in organizational context. *Work and Occupations*, 35(3), 262-295. **Retrieved**June 1, 2009 from Sage Publications database.
- Chan, D.K., Lam, C.B., Chow, S., & Cheung, S.F. (2008). Examining the job-related, psychological, and physical outcomes of workplace sexual harassment: A meta-analytic review. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 32(4), 362-376.
- Cortina, L.M. (2004). Hispanic perspectives on sexual harassment and social support. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 30(5), 570-584. Retrieved April 10, 2009 from the Sage Publications database.
- Cortina, L.M., & Wasti, S.A. (2005). Profiles in coping: Responses to sexual harassment across persons, organizations, and cultures. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(1), 182-192.
- Cox, Roxanne R. (2005). Structural and cultural determinants of coping with sexual harassment in Mexican American and Anglo American women: A qualitative and quantitative analysis. (Doctoral dissertation, New Mexico State University, 2006). Dissertation Abstracts International, 66, 2632. (Publication No. AAT 3183287).
- Creswell, J.W. (2005). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson.
- Dachelet, C.Z., Wemett, M.F., Garling, J., Craig-Kuhn, K., Kent, N., & Kitzman, H.J. (1981). The critical incident technique applied to the evaluation of clinical practicum settings. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 20(2), 15-31.

- Dakof, G.A., & Taylor, (1990). Victims' perceptions of social support: What is helpful from whom? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58(1), 80-89.
- Doxsee, D.J., & Kivlrghan, D.M. (1994). Hindering events in interpersonal relations groups for counsellor trainees. *Journal of Counselling & Development*, 72(6), 621-626.
- Duplassie, D., MacKnee, C., & Williams, M. (2008). Critical incidents that help and hinder learning emotionally focused therapy for couples. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy*, 7(1), 1-17.
- Elkins, T.J., Phillips, J.S., & Ward, S.G. (2008). Organizational sexual harassment investigations: Observers' perceptions of fairness. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 20(1), 88-108.
- Elkins, T.J., & Velez-Castrillon, S. (2008). Victims' and observers' perceptions of sexual harassment: Implications for employers' legal risks in North America. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 19(8), 1435-1454.
- Ellinger, A.D., & Bostrom, R.P. (1999). Managerial couching behaviours in learning organizations. *The Journal of Management Development, 18*(9), 752-771. **Retrieved December 2007 from Proquest database.**
- Ellinger, A.D., Watkins, K.E., & Bostrom, R.P. (1999). Managers as facilitators of learning in learning organizations. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 10(2), 105-125.
- Fitzgerald, L.F., Shullman, S.L., Bailey, N., & Richards, M. (1988). The incidence and dimensions of sexual harassment in academia and the workplace. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 32(2), 152-175.
- Fitzgerald, L.F., Gelfand, M.J., & Drasgow, F. (1995). Measuring sexual harassment: Theoretical and psychometric advances. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 17(4), 425-445.
- Flanagan, J.C. (1954). The critical incident technique. *Psychological Bulletin*, 51(4), 327-358.
- Frazier, P.A., & Burnett, J.W. (1994). Immediate coping strategies among rape victims. Journal of Counselling & Development, 72(6), 633-639.
- Galesic, M., & Tourangeau, R. (2007). What is sexual harassment? It depends on who asks! Framing effects on survey responses. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 21(2), 189-202.

- Gelfand, M.J., Fitzgerald, L.F., & Drasgow, F. (1995). The structure of sexual harassment: A confirmatory analysis across cultures and settings. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 47(2), 164-177.
- Green, D.L., & Pomeroy, E.C. (2007). Crime victims: What is the role of social support? Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment, & Trauma, 15(2), 97-113.
- Gruber, J.E., & Fineran, S. (2007). The impact of bullying and sexual harassment on middle and high school girls. *Violence Against Women, 13*(6), 627-643. **Retrieved April, 2009 from Sage Publications database**.
- Handy, J. (2006). Sexual harassment in small town New Zealand: A qualitative study of three contrasting organizations. *Gender, Work, and Organization*, 13(1), 1-24.
- Hertzog, J.L., Wright, D., & Beat, D. (2008). There's a policy for that: A comparison of the organizational culture of workplaces reporting incidents of sexual harassment. *Behaviour and Social Issues*, 17(2), 169-181.
- Hibino, Y., Ogino, K., & Inagaki, M. (2006). Sexual harassment of female nurses by patients in Japan. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 38(4), 400-405.
- Hitlan, R.T., Schneider, K.T., & Walsh, B.M. (2006). Upsetting behaviour: Reactions to personal and bystander sexual harassment experiences. *Sex Roles*, 55(3-4), 187-195.
- Huerta, M., Cortina, L.M., Pang, J.S., Torges, C.M., & Magley, V.J. (2006). Sex and power in the academy: Modeling sexual harassment in the lives of college women. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 32(5), 616-628.
- Itaru, I. (2003). Contextual effects of personal network on individuals' tendency to blame the victims of sexual harassment. *Asian Journal of Social Psychology*, 6(3), 201-214.
- Kane-Urrabazo, C. (2007). Sexual harassment in the workplace: It is your problem. Journal of Nursing Management, 15(6), 608-613.
- Kemppainen, J.K. (2000). The critical incident technique and nursing care quality research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 32(5), 1264-1271.
- Kocot, T., & Goodman, L. (2003). The roles of coping and social support in battered women's mental health. *Violence Against Women*, 9(3), 323-346.
- Krefting, L. (1991). Rigor in qualitative research: The assessment of trustworthiness. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 45(3), 214-222.
- Lazarus, R.S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. New York, New York: Springer Publishing Company.

- Li, S. & Lee-Wong, S.M. (2005). A study on Singaporeans' perceptions of sexual harassment from a cross cultural perspective. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 35(4), 699-717.
- Lindsey, E., & Attridge, C. (1989). Staff nurses' perceptions of support in an acute care workplace. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 21(2), 15-25.
- Magley, V. J. (2000). The structure and function of coping with sexual harassment. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Illinois, 2000). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 60, 4944. (Publication No. AAT 9944930).
- Magley, V.J. (2002). Coping with sexual harassment: Reconceptualizing women's resistance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83(4), 930-946.
- Magley, V.J., Hulin, C.L., Fitzgerald, L.F., & DeNardo, M. (1999). Outcomes of self-labeling sexual harassment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84(3). 390-402.
- Malamut, A.B., & Offerman, L.R. (2001). Coping with sexual harassment: Personal, environmental, and cognitive determinants. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(6), 1152-1166.
- McDaniel, S.A., & Van Roosmalen, E. (1991). Sexual harassment in Canadian academe: Explorations of power and privilege. *Women's Studies International*, 17(1), 3-19.
- Merkin, R.S. (2008). Cross cultural differences in perceiving sexual harassment: Demographic incidence rates of sexual harassment /sexual aggression in Latin America. *North American Journal of Psychology*, 10(2), 277-290.
- Morley, J.G. (2003). Meaningful engagements in RCMP workplaces: What helps and what hinders. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia, Canada.
- Nelson, C., Halpert, J.A., & Cellar, D.F. (2007). Organizational responses for preventing and stopping sexual harassment: Effective deterrents or continued endurance? Sex Roles, 56(11-12), 811-822. Retrieved April, 2009 from the Springer Science database.
- O'Driscoll, M.P., & Cooper, C.L. (1996). A critical incident analysis of stress coping behaviours at work. *Stress Medicine*, 12(2), 123-128.
- O'Donohue, W.T., Mosco, E.A., Bowers, A.H., & Avina, C. (2006). Sexual harassment as diagnosable PTSD trauma. *Psychiatric Times*, 23(1), 50-62. **Retrieved September 2007 from Wilson Web.**
- Pryor, J.B. (1995). The psychosocial impact of sexual harassment on women in the U.S. military. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 17(4), 581-603.

- Rederstorff, J.C., Buchanan, N.T., & Settles, L.H. (2007). The moderating roles of race and gender-role attitudes in the relationship between sexual harassment and psychological well-being. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 31(1), 50-61.
- Reynolds, K.L., & Harris, L.C. (2006). Deviant customer behaviour: An exploration of frontline employee tactics. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 14(2), 95-111.
- Salisbury, J., Stringer, D.M., Ginorio, A.B., & Remick, H. (1986). Counselling victims of sexual harassment. *Psychotherapy*, 23(2), 316-324.
- Schulz, W.E., Sheppard, G.W., Lehr, R., & Shepard, B. Counselling ethics: Issues and cases. Ottawa, Ontario: Canadian Counselling Association.
- Sherack, K.J. (2003). The exploration of non-sexual boundary crossings in psychotherapy via the Critical Incident Technique. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Loyola University, Chicago.
- Sigal, J., Braden-Maguire, J., Patt, I., Goodrich, C., & Perrino, C.S. (2003). Effect of type of coping response, setting, and social context on reactions to sexual harassment. Sex Roles, 48(3/4), 157-166.
- Skinner, E.A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping: A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(2), 216-269.
- Slotten, C. (2002). A qualitative study of twenty-four women who experienced sexual harassment in highschool: What happened, how they coped and how it affected them. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Ohio State University.
- Stockdale, M.S. (1998). The direct and moderating influences of sexual harassment pervasiveness, coping strategies, and gender on work-related outcomes. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 22(4), 521-535.
- Tryon, G.S. (2000). Ethical transgressions of school psychology graduate students: A critical incidents survey. *Ethics & Behaviour*, 10(3), 271-279.
- University of New Brunswick. *Policy Concerning Sexual Harassment*. Retrieved from The Human Resources & Organizational Development Web site: http://www.unb.ca/hr/employees/policies/harassment.php
- University of Northern British Columbia. *Policies and procedures: Harassment and discrimination*. Retrieved September, 2007 from University of Northern British Columbia Web site:

  <a href="http://www.unbc.ca/assets/policy/facilities/security\_harassment\_and">http://www.unbc.ca/assets/policy/facilities/security\_harassment\_and</a>

discrimination.pdf

- U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission: Sexual Harassment. Retrieved from: http://www.eeoc.gov/types/sexual\_harassment.html
- Valente, S.M., & Bullough, V. (2004). Sexual harassment of nurses in the workplace. Journal of Nursing Care Quality, 19(3), 234-241.
- Vijayasiri, G. (2008). Reporting sexual harassment: The importance of organizational culture and trust [Electronic version]. *Gender Issues*, 25, 43-61.
- Wasti, S.A., Bergman, M.E., Glomb, T.M., & Drasgow, F. (2000). Test of the cross-cultural generalizability of a model of sexual harassment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(5), 766-778.
- Wear, D., Aultman, J.M., & Borges, N.J. (2007). Retheorizing sexual harassment in medical education: Women students' perceptions at five U.S. medical schools. *Teaching and Learning in Medicine*, 19(1), 20-29.
- Weiss, D.S., & La Londe, R.N. (2001). Responses of female undergraduates to scenarios of sexual harassment by male professors and teaching assistants. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 33(3), 148-163.
- Welsh, S., & Gruber, J.E. (1999). Not taking it anymore: Women who report or file complaints of sexual harassment. *The Canadian Review of Sociology & Anthropology*, 36(4), 559-583.
- Wethington, E., & Kessler, R.C. (1986). Perceived support, received support, and adjustment to stressful life events. (1986). *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour*, 27(1), 78-89.
- Weyers, M.L., & Van Den Berg, A.M. (2006). The success factors in community work services: A critical incident study. *International Social Work, 49*(2), 177-187.
- Wilkinson, T.J., Gill, D.J., Fitzjohn, J., Palmer, C.L., & Mulder, R.T. (2006). The impact on students of adverse experiences in medical school. *Medical Teacher*, 28(2), 129-135.
- Woolsey, L.K. (1986). The Critical Incident Technique: An innovative qualitative method of research. *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, 20(4), 242-253.
- Yagil, D. (2008). When the customer is wrong: A review of research on aggression and sexual harassment in service encounters. *Aggression and Violent Behaviour*, 13(2), 141-152. **Retrieved June 2009 from Science Direct**.

#### Appendix A

# Research Participants Needed!

I am looking for females 19 years of age or older who are willing to share their stories of coping with sexual harassment to participate in my study.

Participants will be asked to complete a one-on-one interview with the researcher, and in appreciation for your time you will receive an honorarium.

If you are interested in sharing your story or if you would like more information, please contact Tracey at 640-9993 or <a href="mailto:garber@unbc.ca">garber@unbc.ca</a>

Tracey 250-640-9993 garber@unbc.ca Tracey 250-640-9993 garber@unbc.ca

Tracey 250-640-9993 garber@unbc.ca Tracey 250-640-9993 garber@unbc.ca Tracey 250-640-9993 garber@unbc.ca

Tracey 250-640-9993 garber@unbc.ca

#### Appendix B

Information Sheet- Research on Women's Perceptions of Helpful and Hindering Incidents in Coping with Sexual Harassment

I am a student of the University of Northern British Columbia, currently working toward my Masters in Education in Counselling degree. As part of the requirement for completion of this degree, I have chosen to complete a written thesis and complete an oral defense under the supervision of Dr. Corinne Koehn. Because of personal experience in the field, I have chosen to study women's experiences of being sexually harassed, and the specific incidents they found to be significantly helpful and significantly hindering in their attempt to cope with the situation. While I understand that this is a potentially sensitive topic, I believe that your thoughts and experiences are invaluable and will provide me with rich, insightful data that I hope will contribute to the body of knowledge related to how women cope with sexual harassment.

#### Purpose of Research:

I believe that there is a gap between what women who have experienced sexual harassment would like to see when attempting to cope with sexual harassment, and what actually happens. Therefore, with this research I hope to obtain first hand examples of what women found especially helpful and especially hindering in their experiences of coping with sexual harassment, and use this information to help close the gap.

#### **Participant Commitment:**

Your participation in this study is completely **voluntary**. I will be conducting one-on-one interviews during which I will be asking you to tell me about a time when you attempted to cope with sexual harassment, and specific incidents that you found significantly helpful and/or significantly hindering in your attempt to cope with the situation. Interviews will be tape recorded to ensure accuracy, and you are free to turn off the tape at any time during the interview. You are encouraged to take a break during the interview process whenever you feel it is needed, and you are also free to withdraw from the research at any time without penalty. I will also ask you to complete a demographic questionnaire and a questionnaire for each incident(s) you report. If you do decide to withdraw from the research your information will be destroyed. Otherwise, your information will be transcribed and typed verbatim and sent to you to review and make any necessary changes. It is important for all participants to understand that anonymous quotes in written form may be included in the final thesis report, publications, or conference presentations.

#### Confidentiality:

I will not use any identifying information in any of my transcripts or my finished paper. Each participant will be given a code which will be used to organize their information, and the interview data will be kept separate from signed consent forms. Only the research team will have access to the tapes and transcripts. If you decide to bring a sexual harassment case to court, and if information is subpoenaed the researcher will need to comply with this order.

Interview data and all tapes and transcripts will be kept in a locked cabinet and electronic data will be kept under password, and after 10 years hard copy information will be shredded, electronic files will be deleted and audio tapes will be destroyed.

#### Dissemination of Results:

Results of this study will be published in journal articles and discussed in conference presentations. Participant quotes may be included, but any identifying information will not be revealed.

#### Benefits and Risks:

This study will provide you with the chance to reflect on and voice what was helpful to you during your attempt to cope with the experience of sexual harassment, and hopefully to return to these methods of coping in other stressful situations. You may also feel a sense of pride to have given your input to a project that is intended to provide information regarding women's perceptions of what is helpful or hindering in their attempts to cope with sexual harassment. I am aware that the topic of my research is sensitive in nature and it is possible that participants may feel uncomfortable talking about their experiences. The following agencies provide support and counselling:

Walmsley & Associates - 564-1000 UNBC Counselling Center (for UNBC students only) - 960-6369 Elizabeth Fry Society, Victim Services - 563-1113

If you would like any further information about this study, please feel free to contact the researcher, Tracey Garber at 640-9993 or research supervisor Dr. C. Koehn at (250) 960-6264 or <a href="mailto:koehn@unbc.ca">koehn@unbc.ca</a>. You may obtain a copy of the results by contacting the researcher by phone or email, during which time a summary of the results may be sent to you. A summary of results will be available January 1, 2010.

Please let the researcher know if you have any questions before continuing with the study. Complaints about the study can be directed to the Office of Research, UNBC at (250) 960-5650.

Tracey Garber garber@unbc.ca (250) 640-9993

## Appendix C

### Research Ethics Board Informed Consent Form

To be completed by the Research Participant.

10 be completed by the Research Latticipant.		
Do you understand that you have been asked to be in a research study?	Yes	No
Have you read and received a copy of the attached information sheet?	Yes	No
Do you understand that the interviews will be recorded?	Yes	No
Do you understand that some of your actual words may be published in a written form?	Yes	No
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in participating in this study?	Yes	No
Do you know what resources you can access for counselling support?	Yes	No
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?	Yes	No
Do you understand that you are free to refuse to participate or to withdraw from the study at any time? You do not have to give a reason and there will be no penalty for withdrawing.	Yes	No
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you?	Yes	No
Do you understand who will have access to the information you provide?	Yes	No

This study was explained to me by:	
7 1 7	Print Name
I agree to take part in this study:	
	Date:
Signature of Research Participant	
Printed Name of Research Participant	
I believe that the person signing this for voluntarily agrees to participate.	orm understands what is involved in the study and
	Date:
Signature of Investigator	

The Information Sheet must be attached to this Consent Form and a copy given to the

# Research Participant Appendix D

# Demographic Information

Please	comple	ete the following:		
1.	Curre	nt age:		
2.	Highest educational level completed:			
	_	Grade school		
	b)	Grade 12		
	c)	Some college or university		
	d)	College diploma		
		University undergraduate degree		
	f)	University graduate degree		
		Other		
3.	Marita	ıl status:		
	a)	Married		
	b)	Separated		
	c)	Divorced		
	d)	Common law		
	e)	Never married		
	f)	Widowed		
4.	What i	s your ethnic origin (eg. Caucasian, Asian, Aboriginal, etc.)?		
5.	Currer	at employment status:		
٥.		Employed full time		
	-	Employed part time		
		Employed seasonally		
		Unemployed		
		Permanently out of labor force due to illness/disability		
		Out of labor force due to decision to be a homemaker		
	,	Student		
		Other (please specify)		
( T.m.		supation: (please specify, eg., teacher, nurse, manager, probation officer server,		

# Appendix E

## Critical Incident Data Sheet

Code:	
Helpfi	ul: Hindering:
Incide	ent Number:
Tape 1	Number:
1.	What year did the harassing incident occur?
2.	How old were you when the incident occurred?
3.	Was the perpetrator of the harassment male or female?
4.	In what context did the harassment occur?
	a) Workplace
	b) High school
	c) Post secondary institution
	d) Social setting
	e) Other (please specify)
	s there anyone involved in making your coping experience helpful or hindering?
8. Yes	No No Who were they?
	a) Friend
	b) Family member
	c) Romantic partner
	d) Co-worker
	e) Teacher
	f) Boss/Supervisor/Manager
	g) Counsellor
	h) RCMP
	i) Department of Human Resources
	j) Have never disclosed the harassment to anyone
	k) Sexual Harassment Advisor
	1) Other (please specify)